
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS

3. ROLL CALL

4. PRESENTATION

A. Introduction of New Police Officers- Sara Hanson and Taylor Berman

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS

6. INTERIM TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT

7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

9. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Communications

B. Minutes

(1) November 26, 2024 Closed Session Minutes

(2) December 3, 2024 Special Township Board Meeting

(3) December 3, 2024 Regular Township Board Meeting

C. Bills

D. Construction Contract between MDOT and Meridian Township for the M-43 Bridge Project

E. Disposal of Surplus Vehicles
F. Planning Commission Appointment

G. Board of Review Appointment

H. 2025 Non-Union Wage Schedule

10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY

11. HEARINGS

12. ACTION ITEMS
A. Township Manager Interview/Hiring
B. Text Amendment 2024-19-RN-Village of Nemoka Update-Introduction
C. 4th Quarter Budget Amendments

13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS

A. Fire Code Update

B. I Heart Mac N Cheese Class C Liquor License

C. Youth Commission Establishment

D. Supervisor Pro-Tem Appointment

E. Board 2025 Goals

14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC

15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS

16. CLOSED SESSION- Meridian Twp v West Shore Fire litigation Proposed Motion:  I move to enter closed
session to discuss trial or settlement strategy regarding the Ingham County circuit court case Meridian
Township v West Shore Inc, with legal counsel, pursuant to Sections 8(e) and 8(h) of the OMA.

17. ADJOURNMENT

All comments limited to 3 minutes, unless prior approval for additional time for good cause is obtained from the Supervisor. Appointment of Supervisor Pro 
Tem and/ or Temporary Clerk if necessary. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Meridian Township Board 
by contacting: Interim Township Manager Tim Schmitt, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4258 - Ten Day Notice is Required. 

Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
TOWNSHIP BOARD – REGULAR MEETING 

December 17, 2024 6:00 PM 



9.A

CONSENT AGENDA  
BOARD 

COMMUNICATIONS 



From:
To: Board
Subject: Admin fee on property tax bill
Date: Monday, December 9, 2024 3:28:21 PM

 ]

Hello,

I’m writing to express my concern about the admin fee being added to our property tax bills.  In my opinion, it is
excessive taxation and it should not be charged.  Our property taxes continue to rise at rates higher than most
earnings increase and we should not be paying taxes upon taxes.  Thank you for your time and consideration.
Sincerely,
Julianne Kagey



From:
To:  Board
Subject: Re: Traffic at Dobie/Central Park and Grand River Ave.--Pot store impact
Date: Monday, December 9, 2024 8:55:43 PM
Attachments:

Mr. Kotz, 

Thank you for your email. I wanted to follow up on two things from your email. 

You've correctly noted the Covid traffic downturn, something that Staff has consistently
noted in our review of traffic studies over the past several years. It is an unfortunate side
effect of the pandemic, but one that is slowly going away. But in the interim, this is the
data we are left using. Staff has been focusing on uses that create an undue traffic
burden and in this case, the recreational marijuana facility is no different than a general
retail type use and wouldn't create an undue traffic burden on the surrounding road
network. And this property is planned for and zoned for commercial uses. 

I would like to point out one notable inaccuracy in your email. We have not approved nor
would we even consider a 127.000 sq. ft. pot warehouse. That use is not permitted in the
Township, anywhere, at any size. The Board previously reviewed and denied a request
for a traditional self storage facility of that size on the property. But again, that was
denied. That use does not exist nor will it exist. 

Happy to answer any questions you might have about any proposal, at any time. 

Sincerely,
 

Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP
Interim Township Manager///Director of Community Planning
and Development
schmitt@meridian.mi.us
W 517.853.4506

5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
meridian.mi.us
 

From: Charles Kotz < >
Sent: Monday, December 9, 2024 3:12 PM
To: Board <Board@meridian.mi.us>
Subject: Traffic at Dobie/Central Park and Grand River Ave.--Pot store impact
 



Dear Board:

I sincerely hope that the Board is astute enough to see through the traffic projections
that were provided by the owners of the new pot store, that is to be located on
Grand River Avenue & Central Park Dr.  Their numbers show that traffic in this
area actually declined during the years analyzed, (2018-2023).  What their report
fails to point out is that the year 2020 was an outlier due to Covid shutdowns and
closures.  They make no mention of this aberration in their report.  

The question the Board needs to ask is: “what impact will a 127,000 sq. foot pot
warehouse and a 4,000 sq. foot pot retail store have on traffic in this already over
congested area”?  How many more stoned people will be driving around our
Township? Yes, really.  What are the business hours of operation for this outfit?
 Will trucks be travelling in and out of the warehouse at all hours of the day? Is the
Board requiring any concessions from these people?  Incidentally, has the impact on
the people in the new housing development on Central Park been considered?  What
incredible planning….

This was a very poor decision to locate a large pot business in the heart of the
Township.  Not very surprising though, based on the pro-development path this
Board has consistently pursued. 

Sincerely,

Charles Kotz
 



From:
To:  Board
Cc:
Subject: RE: The Addition of Light Posts in Meridian Township Parks
Date: Tuesday, December 10, 2024 11:37:52 AM

Alex,
 
On behalf of the entire Meridian Township Board, I want to thank you for taking the time to
write to us regarding adding lights to our parks.
 
You and your friends, like many of our 44,000 residents, enjoy our parks and feel a strong
connection to nature because of spending time in our parks.  In Meridian Township we have 19
parks and over 1,600 acres of land preserve natural areas.
 
You are correct to understand that being in an unlit park after dark is potentially a very
dangerous situation.   For this reason, Meridian Township parks are open from dawn to dusk.
Nearly all Ingham County parks are also closed after dark.
 
The cost to install and maintain nighttime lighting in our parks would be very high and is not
something the Township Board or Parks Commission is likely to approve anytime soon. 
Further, many of our residents who love our parks as you do, would be likely be opposed to
nighttime lighting of our parks because the light poles and fixtures would most likely denigrate
the natural elements of our parks. 
 
Thank you again for your email to the Board. We hope you will remain interested in your
Township parks and government in the years ahead.  If you would like to speak with me directly
on the phone, my phone number is 517-853-4144.
 
Phil Deschaine
Meridian Township Treasurer
 

 
deschaine@meridian.mi.us
O: 517.853.4144 | M 517.410.0061
5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
 

 
From: Alex Wells < > 
Sent: Tuesday, December 10, 2024 8:29 AM



 Learn why this is
important

To: Board <Board@meridian.mi.us>
Subject: The Addition of Light Posts in Meridian Township Parks

 

Dear Meridian Township Board: 

I hope you are having a joyous holiday season. Meridian Township has many beautiful parks
that showcase the community's love for nature. I have spent many hours with my friends in the
parks, and we often hang out at them throughout the school year. Adding light posts in the
parks, especially Lake Lansing South Park, would be a forward-thinking decision. 
 
As someone very interested in community health and improving it, it’s important to note that
light posts are proven to make communities safer; a randomized control trial conducted by The
University of Chicago showed evidence that having more well-lit areas reduces crime by
around 36% (2021). It is also relevant to consider how close the schools are to the parks and
that there is no border between the lake's water and the park’s sidewalk, it is just a cement
dropoff into the water which is very dangerous when there is no lighting. 
 
What made me realize how dangerous the park can be at night with no lighting was when me
and my friends decided that instead of going to a party, after our senior year homecoming, we
were going to go to the local QD and walk around the park. We grabbed our ice cream and as
we started to walk we noticed there were no lights and we couldn't see so we all pulled out our
phone’s flashlight. When we began to walk deeper into the park it almost felt eerie and that it
wasn’t our park. As I was walking I went to take a step off the path and realized there was
nothing there to support my foot; Luckily I jumped back quickly enough that I didn’t fall in.
This event made me realize how dangerous it is to have zero lighting in the park. 
 
I know that light poles are not cheap to buy or have installed. It would cost around $550 for
each pole we would install, but how can we put a price on the community's health and safety?
It is too easy to lose a life due to the panic of falling into unknown water and I think it would
be unwise to continue taking that risk. We could also get some of the high schoolers in the
district to paint the light poles so that they don’t interrupt the beauty of the parks and the
nature surrounding them.  
 
In conclusion, light poles would increase the community's safety from crime and accidents. I
would love to work with you on this if you could help me make the community safer by
proposing the addition of light posts in the parks to the board. Thank you for your time and I
look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Sincerely,

Alex Wells  (A Haslett High School Senior)



STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY:  This is a transmission from Haslett Public Schools and the
information contained is intended only for the person or entity to which it is addressed.  If you are not the
addressee, please note that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the contents of this message
is prohibited.



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY 

LEGAL AD NOTICE: Rezoning #24013 (Fedewa Holdings) 

MONDAY, January 13, 2025 

  

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
LEGAL NOTICE 

Rezoning #25001 (Fedewa Holdings) 
Public Hearing 

 
Notice is hereby given that the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian will 
hold a public hearing on Monday, January 13, 2025 at 6:30 p.m. in the Meridian Municipal 
Building, Town Hall Room, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI, 48864 (phone 517-853-4560) to 
hear all persons interested in a rezoning request.  Fedewa Holdings is requesting to rezone an 
approximately 4.28-acre parcel located on Dobie Road from RAA (Single Family-Low Density) 
to RD (Multiple Family, maximum 8 dwelling unit per acre) subject to a conditional rezoning 
agreement. 
 
Materials related to the request are available for viewing in the Department of Community 
Planning and Development office (5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 48864), Monday-Friday, 
8am-5pm, or on the Township website at the following location: 
www.meridian.mi.us/besinesses/development-projects. Written comments may be sent 
prior to the public hearing to the Planning Commission, Charter Township of Meridian, 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Michigan, 48864, or by email to shorkey@meridian.mi.us. 
 
Publish:   City Pulse     Angela Demas 
   December 18, 2024    Township Clerk 
 
1 Affidavit, please 
 
 
 
 

 



Stephaney Guild 

From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Cc: 

Subject: Reminder: Williamston Senior Center Open House, Saturday, December 7, 2024 from 
12-4 pm

I Some people who received this message don't often get email from Learn why this is important 

Dear Meridian Township Senior Center Task Force Members and Board Members and Staff 
Members, 

Reminder that this Saturday, December 7, 2024 from 12-4pm is the Williamston Senior Center 
Open House at their new location. See details below. It is beneficial to benchmark similar 
neighboring communities' senior facilities to gather as much information as possible. Benchmarking 
can provide the Members additional detailed information about the best practices of similar 
neighboring communities, which can assure our community of due diligence and greatly assist the 
Members in their decision making process. 

Also, for the benchmarking of best practices, any Member(s)' efforts to arrange and confirm a private 
informational group tour of this new Williamston Senior Center after the holidays and in the new 
year 2025 would be greatly appreciated. Again, see details and contact information below: 

Williamston Senior Center Online Bi-Monthly Newsletter for November-December 2024 (pages 
3, 4, & 7 reference the upcoming new Williamston Senior Center Open House) 
https:/ /www.williamstonseniorcenter.org/ files/ugd/616466 5cd0c3ce09cb4af98d bbddfe2992d223. pdf 

What: New Williamston Senior Center Open House 
When: Saturday, December 7, 2024 from 12:00-4:00 p.m. 
Where: New Williamston Senior Center 
500 Williamston Center Road 
Williamston, Ml 48895 
Contact: Executive Director Julie Rudd 
Current Phone Number: 517-655-5173 
E-Mail Address: williamstonseniorctr@gmail.com
Website: https://www.williamstonseniorcenter.org
Weekday Hours: Monday-Thursday, 9:00am-3:00pm

Thank you for your time and consideration, 
Beth Bechtel 
Haslett, Ml 



 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
December 2, 2024 

 
     CONTACT: Kathy Yates, VP of the Nokomis Board of Directors 

517.349.5777 | kathyyates@nokomis.org 

 

Nokomis Cultural Heritage Center to Host 31st Annual Holiday Art Market 
Shop Native American Themed Gifts 

Meridian Township, MI – Shop local for the holiday season at the 31st Annual Holiday Art Market, 
hosted by the Nokomis Cultural Heritage Center. 

The event will be held at the Nokomis Cultural Heritage Center (5153 Marsh Road, Okemos) over 
three days in December. The market will feature Native American themed books, baskets, 
dreamcatchers, ornaments, jewelry, and sweetgrass. 

Holiday Art Market Dates: 

• Saturday, December 7 | 10:00 am to 5:00 pm 
• Sunday, December 8 | 10:00 am to 5:00 pm 
• Saturday, December 14 | 10:00 am to 5:00 pm 

All vendors accept cash. Whether they accept check, credit card, or use another digital method of 
payment will depend on the vendor.  

The Nokomis Cultural Heritage Center is a 501(c)(3) organization that is dedicated to preserving 
the history, arts, culture, and language of the Anishinaabe people — the Ojibwe, Odawa, and 
Potawatomi nations. The center fulfills this mission by hosting various programs, exhibitions, and 
special events.  

For questions, please contact the Nokomis Cultural Heritage Center at 517.349.5777 or 
info@nokomis.org. To learn more about the center, visit https://www.nokomis.org/. 

### 

https://www.nokomis.org/


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
  
 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
December 2, 2024 

 
CONTACT: Holly Cordill, Executive Director 

517.347.7300 | cordill@meridianhistoricalvillage.org 

 

Friends of Historic Meridian to Host Christmas in the Village Event 
Enjoy an Afternoon with Christmas Traditions from the Victorian Era 

 
Meridian Township, MI – The Friends of Historic Meridian will hold their annual Christmas in the 
Village event on Sunday, December 8, from 2:00 pm to 4:00 pm at the Meridian Historical Village (5151 
Marsh Road, Okemos). 
 
This event is free and open to the public. Cookies and hot chocolate will be available for $3 in the 
Barnes House.  A group of carolers from Delta Dental will also be in attendance. 
 
Christmas in the Village activities are as follows: 
 

• 2:00 pm to 4:00 pm | Meet and Greet with Santa in the Unruh Barn  
• 2:00 pm to 4:00 pm | Building Tours  
• 2:00 pm to 4:00 pm | General Store Gift Shop Open 

o Shop from a variety of gifts, stocking stuffers, and more 
• 3:00 pm | Concert Featuring the Renaissance Singers in the Village Chapel 
• 4:00 pm | Annual Tree Lighting Ceremony  

  
For more information, please contact the Friends of Historic Meridian at 517.347.7300 or visit their 
website at https://www.meridianhistoricalvillage.org/. 
 

### 
 

mailto:cordill@meridianhistoricalvillage.org
https://www.meridianhistoricalvillage.org/


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
December 4, 2024 

 
CONTACT: Courtney Wisinski, Director of Parks and Recreation 

517.853.4600 | wisinski@meridian.mi.us  

 

Celebrate the Opening of Harris Nature Center’s Newest Play Feature 
Community Invited to Ribbon Cutting Ceremony for Upgraded Log Jam Equipment 

 
Meridian Township, MI – On Wednesday, December 11, at 11:00 am, the Harris Nature Center 
Foundation will hold a ribbon cutting ceremony at Harris Nature Center (3998 Van Atta Road, 
Okemos) to unveil the new Log Jam play feature in the Nature Exploration Area. 
 
The new Log Jam includes log balance beams, stumps, oversized mushrooms, and a crawl-through 
tunnel. It is designed for kids aged two to 12 and helps foster the development of gross motor skills. 
 
“We are excited to introduce the new Log Jam playscape, which was made possible by the generous 
donation of the Harris Nature Center Foundation and the Kiwanis Club of Haslett-Okemos. This 
unique feature invites children to climb, explore, and let their imaginations run wild in the heart of 
nature,” stated Parks and Recreation Director Courtney Wisinski.  
 
The original Log Jam play feature was installed in 2015 but had deteriorated over time. The total cost 
of the new Log Jam was $45,074. The Kiwanis Club of Haslett-Okemos donated $20,000 to the project, 
and the Harris Nature Center Foundation covered the remaining balance. 
 
“We’re thrilled to have this new addition to the HNC Nature Exploration Area and for kids to enjoy it 
for many years to come,” said Harris Nature Center Foundation President Alexa Warwick. “This 
upgrade reflects the foundation’s commitment to enhancing facilities of the nature center, and we 
couldn’t do it without the generous support of the community.” 
 
The Harris Nature Center Foundation is a 501(c)(3) organization whose mission is to fund special 
projects that enhance the quality of nature appreciation and education at the Harris Nature Center. 
 
Visit https://hncfoundation.weebly.com/about-the-foundation.html for more information about the 
foundation. For questions, please contact the Harris Nature Center at 517.349.3866 or 
hnc@meridian.mi.us.  
 

### 

mailto:wisinski@meridian.mi.us
https://hncfoundation.weebly.com/about-the-foundation.html
mailto:hnc@meridian.mi.us


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
December 13, 2024 

 
CONTACT: Rick Grillo, Chief of Police 

517.853.4800 | grillo@meridian.mi.us  

 

Statement from Chief of Police Rick Grillo in Response to the Arrest of Alexander Stachura 
 

Meridian Township, MI – “On October 29, 2024, the Michigan State Police notified our department that 
it was conducting a criminal investigation involving probationary Officer Alexander Stachura.  

“Following our standard protocol, Mr. Stachura was immediately placed on paid administrative leave. 
His access to Township-owned materials, facilities, and equipment was removed pending the 
investigation. 

“On December 10, we learned Ingham County Prosecuting Attorney John Dewane had filed felony 
criminal charges against Mr. Stachura. While we respect the criminal justice process and its 
presumption of innocence until proven guilty, we recognize a resolution is unlikely to be reached 
quickly. This strains our department’s staff as they fill in for the absent probationary officer, who 
cannot reasonably fulfill his duties while the criminal justice process unfolds. For this reason, we 
concluded his employment on December 10.” 

### 

 

mailto:grillo@meridian.mi.us


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
December 13, 2024 

 
CONTACT: Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 

517.853.4250 | hendrickson@meridian.mi.us  

 

Township Board’s Statement in Response to the Arrest of Alexander Stachura 
 

Meridian Township, MI – Meridian Township Supervisor Scott Hendrickson issued the following 
statement on behalf of the Township Board: 

“The Board has full faith in Interim Manager Schmitt and Chief Grillo to address personnel matters and 
ensure that our team embodies the values of Meridian Township. Their immediate action on this matter 
shows that our faith in our Township leaders is well placed.” 

### 

 

mailto:hendrickson@meridian.mi.us
























9.B

CONSENT AGENDA 
PROPOSED BOARD MINUTES 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Closed Session of 
November 26, 2024; the Special Meeting of December 3, 2024; and the 
Regular Meeting of December 3, 2024 as submitted.  (1)

ALTERNATE MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Closed Session of 
November 26, 2024; the Special Meeting of December 3, 2024; and the 
Regular Meeting of December 3, 2024with the following 
amendment(s):[insert amendments]

(1)

(1)



 

Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

SPECIAL MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 

TUESDAY, DECEMBER 3, 2024, 1:30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee 

Wilson, Trustee Trezise and Trustee Sundland 

ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Chief Grillo, Manager Diehl, Human Resources Administrator Hasse, Administrative 
Assistant Keroson 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson called the December 3, 2024, Special Township Board meeting to 
order at 1:30 pm 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
Clerk Demas called the roll of the Board.  
 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Wilson, 
Trustee Sundland and Trustee Trezise present at 1:30 pm 

 
4. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson opened comments from the public at 1:31 pm 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson closed comments from the public at 1:31 pm 
 

5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the Agenda. Supported by Trustee Wilson 
 
VOICE VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustee Lentz, Trustee Wilson, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee 
Sundland 

 
NAYS:  NONE 

 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
6. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 

  
A. Township Manager Candidate Interviews 



 

Page 2 

i. Robert Hillard – (1:33 – 2:28 pm) 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, 
Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee Wilson each asked two 
questions prepared by Amy Cell Talent.   
 
Supervisor Hendrickson and Trustee Wilson answered the questions Candidate 
Hillard asked of the Trustees. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine and Trustee Lentz asked follow-up questions 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson called a 5-minute recess at 2:29 pm.  The Board reconvened at 2:34 pm 

 
ii. Timothy Dempsey – (2:34 pm – 3:33 pm) 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, 
Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee Wilson each asked two 
questions prepared by Amy Cell Talent.   
 
At the request of Candidate Dempsey, each Board Member gave their answer to 
the questions he asked.   
 
Supervisor Hendrickson and Treasurer Deschaine asked follow-up questions. 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson called a 5-minute recess at 3:33 pm.  The Board reconvened at 3:39 pm 

 
iii. Timothy Schmitt – (3:39 pm – 4:34) 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, 
Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee Wilson each asked two 
questions prepared by Amy Cell Talent.   
 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Trezise, 
answered the questions Candidate Schmitt asked of the Trustees. 
 
Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, and Trustee Lentz asked follow-up 
questions. 

 
7. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

Supervisor Hendrickson opened comments from the public at 4:34 pm 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson closed comments from the public at 4:34 pm 
 

8. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  
 
Supervisor Hendrickson thanked members of the public for joining the meeting 
 

9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Wilson 
 



 

Page 3 

VOICE VOTE YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Wilson, Trustee Trezise, and 
Trustee Sundland 

 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 4:35 pm 

 

__________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson 

Township Supervisor 

 

__________________________________ 
Angela Demas 

Township Clerk 



 

Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

REGULAR MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 

TUESDAY, DECEMBER 3, 2024, 6:00PM 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee 

Wilson, Trustee Trezise and Trustee Sundland 

ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Interim Manager Schmitt, Deputy Clerk Gordon, Police Chief Grillo, Director Tithof 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson called the December 3, 2024, Regular Township Board meeting to 
order at 6:00 pm 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
Deputy Clerk Gordon called the roll of the Board.  
 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Wilson, 
Trustee Sundland and Trustee Trezise present at 6:00 pm 

 
4. PRESENTATION  

 
A. Public Safety Recruitment and Retention Program  

Chief Grillo gave a presentation about the Public Safety Recruitment and Retention 
Program and how it has worked for the past year.  
 
Clerk Demas asked about the impact and changes to expect in 2025.  Chief Grillo stated that 
he is recruiting for one remaining open position and may need to send a person through the 
police academy, he is hoping to start a traffic team and 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked if the updates to the locker room are helping to recruit.  Chief 
Grillo answered that the updates are helping to retain staff. 
 
Trustee Lentz asked about the arrest and citation statistics.  Chief Grillo answered that the 
largest factor is the number of people in the township and the type of calls for service, that 
the number has gone down in part because the staff are focused on calls for service instead 
of proactive actions like traffic tickets.  
 
 

 



 

Page 2 

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson opened comments from the public at 6:17 pm 
 
Heather Goddard, township resident, spoke in opposition to dispensary in Okemos.   
 
Supervisor Hendrickson closed comments from the public at 6:19 pm 

 
6. INTERIM TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT 
 

• Thanked public works for addressing recent difficult water main issues.  
• Director Clark, Deputy Manager Opsommer, and Interim Manager Schmitt Spoke to Haslett 

High School students regarding how they can make change in the community. 
 

7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Treasurer Deschaine informed residents that tax bills were mailed out.  
 
Clerk Demas highlighted the upcoming Christmas in the Village event. 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson noted the Friends of Nokomos Art Market coming up this weekend and 
next. 
 
Trustee Wilson gave information about the upcoming Friends of Okemos Library Book Sale. 
 

8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Trustee Trezise moved to approve the Agenda. Supported by Trustee Wilson 
 
VOICE VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustee Lentz, Trustee Wilson, Trustee Sundland and Trustee 
Trezise 

 
NAYS: NONE 

 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
9. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

Supervisor Hendrickson listed the items that appeared on the agenda. He asked that the names 
be updated to reflect the correct Board Members names and spellings on both sets of minutes, 
and update the signatories on the Alaiedon Township agreement 
 
Trustee Wilson moved to approve the Consent Agenda with updates. Supported by 
Trustee Trezise. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE:  YEAS:   Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee 

Sundland, Trustee Wilson, Trustee Trezise, Supervisor 
Hendrickson 

 
NAYS: NONE 

 
Motion carried: 7-0 



 

Page 3 

10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY  
 

NONE 
 

11. HEARINGS  
 

NONE 
 

12. ACTION ITEMS 
 
A. Special Use Permit #24-23 – Okemos Gateway LLC – 1614 West Grand River Avenue – 

Recreational Marijuana Retailer 
 
Interim Manager Schmitt outlined the process that has occurred to date and the changes 
made to update the application. 
 
Trustee Trezise stated that after reviewing the correction of typographical errors and the 
additional information added by the applicant, he will approve the permit. 
 
Trustee Lentz said he will approve the permit after reviewing the application. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked to know the capital costs of the building.  Dominic Bacall, 
representing the applicant, stated that the buildout can be expected to cost around $400 
per square foot.  Treasurer Deschaine then asked for a review of the timeline to apply for 
permits and start construction.  Interim Manager Schmitt clarified that the applicant has 60 
days from licensing approval to apply for SUP, then after SUP is approved, they have an 18-
month window to be open and can apply for a 6 month extension.  Treasurer Deschaine 
asked to discuss requiring a new application if an original application cannot be approved 
after the initial discussion with regards to future applications. 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson commented that to add SUP to the end of the process seems like an 
extra step that has been covered in the licensure portion of the approval process for these 
facilities.  He then stated that he would approve the permit. 
 
Trustee Trezise moved to adopt the resolution approving Special Use Permit 24-23, a 
request from Okemos Gateway LLC to establish a recreational marijuana retailer at 
1614 West Grand River Avenue (Parcel ID 33-02-02-22-426-001). The subject 
property is zoned C-2, Commercial, and the property is located within the Marijuana 
Business Overlay District.  Supported by Trustee Lentz. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE:  YEAS:   Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, 

Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson, Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk 
Demas 

 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
 

13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 
  

A. Text Amendment 2024-19 – RN-Village of Okemos update 
 



 

Page 4 

Interim Manager Schmitt gave an overview of the Planning Commission’s work to clean up 
the ordinance language and make the ordinance more useable. 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson asked to know the area covered by the ordinance.  Interim 
Manager Schmitt gave detail on the area and added that this is part of a larger process to 
clean up the zoning standards around Lake Lansing. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked about the specifics that are addressed in this amendment.  
Interim Manager Schmitt clarified that it puts standards in the district and removes a 
provision that allows the Planning Director or Planning Commission to allow just about any 
use in the district.  This is the only area zoned RN in the Township and the goal is to make it 
work for the people who live there. 
 
Trustee Lentz asked for more details about the existing density of the area.  Interim 
Manager Schmitt said staff will investigate that and noted that density changes were not 
made in this amendment. 
 
Trustee Wilson asked about the uses permitted by right portion.  Interim Manager Schmitt 
clarified that that language is required by State Law.  Trustee Wilson asked when staff plan 
to review this item and move it forward.  Interim Manager Schmitt indicated that staff are 
working on a Parking Ordinance for the Planning Commission and then will return to 
residential issues. 
 

B. Township Manager Interview/Hiring 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson stated that he placed this on the agenda in case the Board wanted 
to discuss the interviews at this time. 
 
Trustee Trezise asked how long Amy Cell Talent will be collecting comments.  Supervisor 
Hendrickson stated that it would be a few days, but that there is not a specific window for 
submitting comments to the talent agency.  Residents and members of the public who wish 
to comment about the interviews can email the Board.  Trustee Trezise asked for a link to 
be placed prominently on the website. 
 
Clerk Demas commented that the public meet-and-greet was helpful for the community to 
make their voices heard and that it is appropriate to give community members time to 
comment over the next two weeks. 

 
14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

Supervisor Hendrickson opened public comments at 6:56 pm 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson closed public comments at 6:56 pm 
 

15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  
 
NONE 
 

16. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Trustee Wilson moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Sundland 
 



 

Page 5 

VOICE VOTE YEAS:  Trustee Wilson, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee Sundland, 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, 
Trustee Lentz, 
 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 6:57 pm 

 

__________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson 

Township Supervisor 

 

__________________________________ 
Angela Demas 

Township Clerk 

























 

 Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

9.D 

 
 
To:  Township Board 
 
From: Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 
 Director of Public Works & Engineering 
   
Date:  December 3, 2024 
 
Re: Construction Contract between MDOT and Meridian Township for the M-43 

Bridge Project 
 
In 2025, the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) will be demolishing the bridge on 
Grand River Ave/M-43 located east of the N Meridian Rd intersection.  
 
At no cost to the Township, MDOT has agreed to construct the bridge with 7’ wide pedestrian 
sidewalks on the north and south side of the bridge deck. This will make it easier to construct one 
of the regional trails that has been identified as a priority project for funding under the Ingham 
County Trails & Parks Millage, which is the Williamston-to-Webberville Trail. This proposed trail 
would run parallel to Grand River Ave/M-43 from the eastern boundary of Meridian Township all 
the way M-52. The trail will then run parallel to M-52 southbound to Webberville. As part of the M-
43 bridge project, MDOT will also be constructing protected bicycle lanes on the north and south 
sides of the bridge deck at no cost to the Township. Flexible bollards/post delineators will be used 
to separate/protect the bike lanes from the vehicular driving lanes as shown below: 
 
 

 
 
The attached contract simply memorializes the following understanding we have reached with 
MDOT: 
 

1. That MDOT will construct the project at no cost to the Township. 



 
Memo to Township Board 
December 3, 2024 
Construction Contract between MDOT and Meridian Township for the M-43 Bridge Project 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

2. The Township shall operate and maintain the sidewalks in accordance with applicable laws. 
This simply memorializing that the Township will remove debris on the sidewalks and plow 
the sidewalks, as we do with the entire pathway system. 

 
The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 
 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION APPROVING CONTRACT NUMBER 23-5346 
BETWEEN THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN AND THE MICHIGAN 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR THE M-43 BRIDGE PROJET OVER THE RED 
CEDAR RIVER AND AUTHORIZE THE SUPERVISOR AND CLERK TO SIGN AND EXECUTE 
THE CONTRACT. 

 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution to approve contract number 23-5346 between the MDOT and Meridian 
Township 

2. Contract Number 23-5346 between the MDOT and Meridian Township 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE CONTRACT NUMBER 23-5346 BETWEEN THE MICHIGAN 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION AND THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

 
At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 
Michigan  48864-1198, (517) 853-4000, on Tuesday, December 17, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 

PRESENT:             

              

ABSENT:             
 

The following resolution was offered by ______________________________ and supported by 

____________________________. 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Transportation, hereinafter referred to as the 
"DEPARTMENT", is planning bridge replacement work of Structure B02 of 33082 which carries 
Highway M-43 traffic over the Red Cedar River; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Charter Township of Meridian has requested that the Michigan Department 
of Transportation perform additional work for and on behalf of the Charter Township of Meridian 
in connection with the Highway M-43 construction, which is located and described as follows: 
 

Sidewalk construction work along Structure B02 of 33082 which carries Highway M-43 
over the Red Cedar River; together with necessary related work, located within the limits of 
the Charter Township of Meridian; and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto have reached an understanding with each other regarding the 

performance of the project work and desire to set forth this understanding in the form of a written 
Contract. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, MOVES TO APPROVE CONTRACT 
NUMBER 23-5346 BETWEEN THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN AND THE MICHIGAN 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR THE M-43 BRIDGE PROJET OVER THE RED CEDAR 
RIVER AND AUTHORIZE THE SUPERVISOR AND CLERK TO SIGN AND EXECUTE THE CONTRACT. 
 
ADOPTED: 
 
 YEAS:           _ 

            _ 

 NAYS:           _ 
 
 Resolution declared adopted. 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
  
 



I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of proceedings 
taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting held on Tuesday, December 17, 2024. 
 
 
 
             
     Angela Demas, Township Clerk 
     Charter Township of Meridian 



10/08/2019  ADWK.FOR  11/18/24 1

SPECIAL TRUNKLINE           DA 
NON-ACT-51  Control Section BFP 33082  
ADDED WORK Job Number  211428CON 

Fed Project #  25A0011 
Structure B02 of 33082 
Contract 23-5346 

THIS CONTRACT is made by and between the MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, hereinafter referred to as the "DEPARTMENT"; and the and the 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN hereinafter 
referred to as the "TOWNSHIP"; hereinafter referred to as the "TOWNSHIP"; for the purpose of 
fixing the rights and obligations of the parties in agreeing to construction improvements in 
conjunction with the DEPARTMENT'S construction on Highway M-43, within the limits of the 
TOWNSHIP. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT is planning bridge replacement work of Structure B02 
of 33082 which carries Highway M-43 over the Red Cedar River; and 

WHEREAS, the TOWNSHIP has requested that the DEPARTMENT perform additional 
work for and on behalf of the TOWNSHIP in connection with the Highway M-43 construction, 
which additional work is hereinafter referred to as the "PROJECT" and is located and described 
as follows: 

Sidewalk construction work along Structure B02 of 33082 which carries Highway 
M-43 over the Red Cedar River; together with necessary related work, located 
within the limits of the TOWNSHIP; and 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto have reached an understanding with each other regarding 
the performance of the PROJECT work and desire to set forth this understanding in the form of a 
written Contract. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual undertakings of 
the parties and in conformity with applicable law, it is agreed: 

1. The DEPARTMENT will construct the PROJECT at no cost to the TOWNSHIP. 

2. Upon completion of the PROJECT, the TOWNSHIP shall accept the facilities 
constructed as built to specifications within the construction contract documents.  It is 
understood that the TOWNSHIP shall operate and maintain the facilities in accordance with all 
applicable Federal and State laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, Title II of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 USC 12131 et seq., and its associated regulations 



10/08/19  ADWK.FOR  11/18/24 2

and standards, and DEPARTMENT Road and Bridge Standard Plans and the Standard 
Specifications for Construction at no cost to the DEPARTMENT. 

3. Any and all approvals of, reviews of, and recommendations regarding contracts, 
agreements, permits, plans, specifications, or documents, of any nature, or any inspections of 
work by the DEPARTMENT pursuant to the terms of this Contract are done to assist the 
TOWNSHIP.  Such approvals, reviews, inspections and recommendations by the 
DEPARTMENT shall not relieve the TOWNSHIP of its ultimate control and shall not be 
construed as a warranty of their propriety or that the DEPARTMENT is assuming any liability, 
control or jurisdiction. 

When providing approvals, reviews and recommendations under this Contract, the 
DEPARTMENT is performing a governmental function, as that term is defined in MCL 
691.1401 et seq., as amended, which is incidental to the completion of the PROJECT. 

4. In connection with the performance of PROJECT work under this Contract the 
parties hereto (hereinafter in Appendix "A" referred to as the "contractor") agree to comply with 
the State of Michigan provisions for "Prohibition of Discrimination in State Contracts", as set 
forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and made a part hereof.  The parties further covenant that 
they will comply with the Civil Rights Acts of 1964, being P.L. 88-352, 78 Stat. 241, as 
amended, being Title 42 U.S.C. Sections 1971, 1975a-1975d, and 2000a-2000h-6 and the 
Regulations of the United States Department of Transportation (49 C.F.R. Part 21) issued 
pursuant to said Act, including Appendix "B", attached hereto and made a part hereof, and will 
require similar covenants on the part of any contractor or subcontractor employed in the 
performance of this Contract.  The parties will carry out the applicable requirements of the 
DEPARTMENT’S Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program and 49 CFR, Part 26, 
including, but not limited to, those requirements set forth in Appendix C.   



10/08/2019  ADWK.FOR  11/18/24 3

5. This Contract shall become binding on the parties hereto and of full force and 
effect upon the signing thereof by the duly authorized officials for the TOWNSHIP and for the 
DEPARTMENT; upon the adoption of a resolution approving said Contract and authorizing the 
signatures thereto of the respective officials of the TOWNSHIP, a certified copy of which 
resolution shall be attached to this Contract. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this contract to be executed as 
written below. 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP  MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT  
OF MERIDIAN          OF TRANSPORTATION 

By__________________________  By__________________________ 
  Title:                              for  Department Director MDOT 

By __________________________  
   Title: 

 Supervisor, Meridian Township

Clerk, Meridian Township

DoyleL
Reviewed



APPENDIX A 
PROHIBITION OF DISCRIMINATION IN STATE CONTRACTS 

In connection with the performance of work under this contract; the contractor agrees as follows: 

1. In accordance with Public Act 453 of 1976 (Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act), the 
contractor shall not discriminate against an employee or applicant for employment with 
respect to hire, tenure, treatment, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment or a 
matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of race, color, religion, 
national origin, age, sex, height, weight, or marital status.  A breach of this covenant will 
be regarded as a material breach of this contract.  Further, in accordance with Public Act 
220 of 1976 (Persons with Disabilities Civil Rights Act), as amended by Public Act 478 
of 1980, the contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment 
or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of a disability that is 
unrelated to the individual’s ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position. A 
breach of the above covenants will be regarded as a material breach of this contract.  

2. The contractor hereby agrees that any and all subcontracts to this contract, whereby a 
portion of the work set forth in this contract is to be performed, shall contain a covenant 
the same as hereinabove set forth in Section 1 of this Appendix. 

3. The contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants for employment and 
employees are treated without regard to their race, color, religion, national origin, age, 
sex, height, weight, marital status, or any disability that is unrelated to the individual’s 
ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position.  Such action shall include, but 
not be limited to, the following: employment; treatment; upgrading; demotion or transfer; 
recruitment; advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship.  

4. The contractor shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, 
weight, marital status, or disability that is unrelated to the individual’s ability to perform 
the duties of a particular job or position.  

5. The contractor or its collective bargaining representative shall send to each labor union or 
representative of workers with which the contractor has a collective bargaining 
agreement or other contract or understanding a notice advising such labor union or 
workers’ representative of the contractor’s commitments under this Appendix. 

6. The contractor shall comply with all relevant published rules, regulations, directives, and 
orders of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission that may be in effect prior to the taking 
of bids for any individual state project. 



7. The contractor shall furnish and file compliance reports within such time and upon such 
forms as provided by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission; said forms may also elicit 
information as to the practices, policies, program, and employment statistics of each 
subcontractor, as well as the contractor itself, and said contractor shall permit access to 
the contractor’s books, records, and accounts by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission 
and/or its agent for the purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance under this 
contract and relevant rules, regulations, and orders of the Michigan Civil Rights 
Commission. 

8. In the event that the Michigan Civil Rights Commission finds, after a hearing held 
pursuant to its rules, that a contractor has not complied with the contractual obligations 
under this contract, the Michigan Civil Rights Commission may, as a part of its order 
based upon such findings, certify said findings to the State Administrative Board of the 
State of Michigan, which State Administrative Board may order the cancellation of the 
contract found to have been violated and/or declare the contractor ineligible for future 
contracts with the state and its political and civil subdivisions, departments, and officers, 
including the governing boards of institutions of higher education, until the contractor 
complies with said order of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission. Notice of said 
declaration of future ineligibility may be given to any or all of the persons with whom the 
contractor is declared ineligible to contract as a contracting party in future contracts.  In 
any case before the Michigan Civil Rights Commission in which cancellation of an 
existing contract is a possibility, the contracting agency shall be notified of such possible 
remedy and shall be given the option by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission to 
participate in such proceedings. 

9. The contractor shall include or incorporate by reference, the provisions of the foregoing 
paragraphs (1) through (8) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by 
rules, regulations, or orders of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission; all subcontracts 
and purchase orders will also state that said provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor or supplier.   

Revised June 2011 



APPENDIX B 
TITLE VI ASSURANCE 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and its successors 
in interest (hereinafter referred to as the “contractor”), agrees as follows: 

1. Compliance with Regulations: For all federally assisted programs, the contractor shall 
comply with the nondiscrimination regulations set forth in 49 CFR Part 21, as may be 
amended from time to time (hereinafter referred to as the Regulations).  Such Regulations 
are incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this contract.  

2. Nondiscrimination: The contractor, with regard to the work performed under the 
contract, shall not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, sex, or national origin in the 
selection, retention, and treatment of subcontractors, including procurements of materials 
and leases of equipment.  The contractor shall not participate either directly or indirectly 
in the discrimination prohibited by Section 21.5 of the Regulations, including 
employment practices, when the contractor covers a program set forth in Appendix B of 
the Regulations.   

3. Solicitation for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment:  
All solicitations made by the contractor, either by competitive bidding or by negotiation 
for subcontract work, including procurement of materials or leases of equipment, must 
include a notification to each potential subcontractor or supplier of the contractor’s 
obligations under the contract and the Regulations relative to nondiscrimination on the 
grounds of race, color, or national origin. 

4. Information and Reports:  The contractor shall provide all information and reports 
required by the Regulations or directives issued pursuant thereto and shall permit access 
to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and facilities as may be 
determined to be pertinent by the Department or the United States Department of 
Transportation (USDOT) in order to ascertain compliance with such Regulations or 
directives.  If required information concerning the contractor is in the exclusive 
possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish the required information, the 
contractor shall certify to the Department or the USDOT, as appropriate, and shall set 
forth the efforts that it made to obtain the information. 

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance:  In the event of the contractor’s noncompliance with the 
nondiscrimination provisions of this contract, the Department shall impose such contract 
sanctions as it or the USDOT may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited 
to, the following: 

a. Withholding payments to the contractor until the contractor complies; and/or 

b. Canceling, terminating, or suspending the contract, in whole or in part. 



6. Incorporation of Provisions:  The contractor shall include the provisions of Sections (1) 
through (6) in every subcontract, including procurement of material and leases of 
equipment, unless exempt by the Regulations or directives issued pursuant thereto.  The 
contractor shall take such action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the 
Department or the USDOT may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including 
sanctions for non-compliance, provided, however, that in the event a contractor becomes 
involved in or is threatened with litigation from a subcontractor or supplier as a result of 
such direction, the contractor may request the Department to enter into such litigation to 
protect the interests of the state.  In addition, the contractor may request the United States 
to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

Revised June 2011 



APPENDIX C 

TO BE INCLUDED IN ALL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
AGREEMENTS WITH LOCAL AGENCIES 

Assurance that Recipients and Contractors Must Make 
(Excerpts from US DOT Regulation 49 CFR 26.13) 

A. Each financial assistance agreement signed with a DOT operating administration 
(or a primary recipient) must include the following assurance:   

The recipient shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the award and performance of any US 
DOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE 
program or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26.  The recipient 
shall take all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR 
Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and 
administration of US DOT-assisted contracts.  The recipient’s 
DBE program, as required by 49 CFR Part 26 and as 
approved by US DOT, is incorporated by reference in this 
agreement.  Implementation of this program is a legal 
obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as 
a violation of this agreement.  Upon notification to the 
recipient of its failure to carry out its approved program, the 
department may impose sanctions as provided for under Part 
26 and may, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for 
enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the Program Fraud 
Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).   

B. Each contract MDOT signs with a contractor (and each subcontract the prime 
contractor signs with a subcontractor) must include the following assurance:   

The contractor, sub recipient or subcontractor shall not 
discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex 
in the performance of this contract.  The contractor shall carry 
out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award 
and administration of US DOT-assisted contracts.  Failure by 
the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material 
breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of 
this contract or such other remedy as the recipient deems 
appropriate.  



9.E

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Board Members 

Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 
Director of Public Works and Engineering 

December 12, 2024 

Disposal of Surplus Vehicles 

The following Motor Pool vehicles have been declared surplus by the Department of Public 
Works. We are requesting authorization to sell the following vehicles at public auction, 
internet auction, direct sale to another municipality, or by sealed bid: 

Unit #138 
Pierce Contender (Fire Engine) 
VIN# 4P1CT02U0XA001603   1999 

Unit #145 
Ford F250       
VIN# 3FTNX21L53MB35529 2003 

The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE DISPOSAL OF THE SURPLUS VEHICLES. 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

9. F

To: Board Members 

From: Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 

Date: December 17, 2024 

Re: Planning Commission Appointment 

With the recent resignations of Commissioner Milton Scales and Commissioner Mark Blumer, there 

are two current vacancies on the Planning Commission with terms ending 12/31/27.   

Former Planning Commissioner James McCurtis, Jr. has been serving a partial term on the 
Township Board that ended on 11/20/24.  As a result, he is interested in returning to the Planning 
Commission. 

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE APPOINTMENT MADE BY SUPERVISOR HENDRICKSON OF 

JAMES MCCURTIS, JR. TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION FOR A TERM ENDING 

12/31/2027.  



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

9. G

To: Board Members 

From: Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 

Date: December 17, 2024 

Re: Board of Review Appointment 

The Board of Review currently has one alternate vacancy with a term ending 12/31/2026. 

I am recommending William Fowler to serve the term expiring on 12/31/2026. Mr. Fowler is our 
previous Equalization Director and a Meridian Township resident. 

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE APPOINTMENT OF WILLIAM FOWLER, AS AN ALTERNATE, TO 

THE BOARD OF REVIEW FOR A TERM ENDING 12/31/2026.  

Attachment: 

1. Public Service Application



* 1. I am interested in service on one or more of the following public bodies as checked below:
Assessing Board of Review *
Board of Water and Light Representative *
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority *
Building and/or Fire Board of Appeals and Building Hearing Officer
Capital Area Transportation Authority (C.A.T.A.)
Communications Commission *
Community Resources Commission
Corridor Improvement Authority *
Downtown Development Authority *
East Lansing-Meridian Water & Sewer Authority
Economic Development Corporation
Elected Officials Compensation Commission *
Environmental Commission
Lake Lansing Watershed Advisory Committee *
Land Preservation Advisory Committee
Park Commission (elected/appointed)
Pension Trustees
Planning Commission
Township Board (elected/appointed)
Zoning Board of Appeals

* 2. Summarize your reasons for applying to do this type of service
After serving on the Absentee Voter Counting Board this year, would like expand my service to Meridian Township in a formal manner. During my period of active
employment I have held governmental positions at the local, county, and state levels.

* 3. Describe education, experience or training which will assist you if appointed.
BA degree Secondary Education 47 + years of employment at local, county, and state levels. Both support level and administrative level. 16 years - part-time faculty at
Lansing Community College . Former Property Valuation/Assessment Administration Program..

(Attach resume if available)
**SKIPPED**

* Full Name
William Fowler

* Occupation
Assessor (Part-time)

* Place of Employment
Flint Township

* Home Address
1064 Buckingham Rd
Haslett 48840

* Phone (Day)
517.339.1652

* Phone (Evening)
517.339.1652

* Email
fowlerb13@gmail.com

* Please type your name in the box below as a digital signature
William E Fowler

* Date and Time
11/18/2024

Other than the Downtown Development Authority Board, the Corridor Improvement Authority, and the Economic Development Corporation, persons appointed to Meridian
Township boards and commissions must be a resident and elector (if of voting age) of the Township during the term of office. Excessive absences may be cause for review
of appointment. The policy for appointment of candidates to the various public service positions is based on the following criteria: desire to serve, experience, expertise,
availability of time to serve, and maintenance of equitable geographic representation. In most instances it will be desirable to develop further information through a
personal interview. This application will be retained in township files for two years.

Page | 1



9. H

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

To: Board Members 

From: Abigail Tithof, Human Resources Director 

Date: December 17, 2024 

Re: 2025 Non-Union Wage Schedule  

The 2025 Budget includes a 3% wage adjustment to the pay ranges for department directors and 

other non-union staff. 

The following motion has been prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE 2025 NON-UNION WAGE SCHEDULE, WITH A 3% 

WAGE ADJUSTMENT, AS PRESENTED. 

Attachment: 

1. 2025 Proposed Non-Union Wage Schedule



2025 Salaries for Non-Union Employees
Effective January 1, 2025

2025 Salary
Township Manager Step 1 $160,823.00
(Interim Mgr Contract) Step 2 $165,567.28

Step 3 $170,451.51
Step 4 $175,479.83
Step 5 $180,656.49
Step 6 $185,985.85
Step 7 $195,285.15

Deputy Township Manager/ Step 1 $117,662.05
Director of Public Works Step 2 $121,191.86

Step 3 $124,826.73
Step 4 $128,571.81
Step 5 $132,429.16
Step 6 $136,402.90
Step 7 $143,221.50

Executive Assistant* Step 1 $48,754.02
Step 2 $52,557.81

*Employee entitled to OT Step 3 $56,360.57
Salary listed = base pay Step 4 $60,161.27

Step 5 $63,969.18
Step 6 $67,771.94
Step 7 $71,165.79

Human Resources Director Step 1 $101,595.08
Step 2 $106,170.34
Step 3 $110,739.42
Step 4 $115,310.56
Step 5 $119,885.82
Step 6 $124,455.93
Step 7 $130,679.19

Human Resources Administrator Step 1 $83,191.04
Step 2 $84,457.94
Step 3 $85,743.38
Step 4 $87,030.88
Step 5 $88,335.89
Step 6 $89,660.47
Step 7 $94,144.06

Finance Director Step 1 $106,366.04
(Vacant Dec 2024) Step 2 $109,558.01

Step 3 $112,843.71
Step 4 $116,229.32
Step 5 $119,716.90
Step 6 $123,307.48
Step 7 $129,473.06



2025 Salaries for Non-Union Employees
Effective January 1, 2025

2025 Salary
Assessor Step 1 $101,595.08

Step 2 $106,170.34
Step 3 $110,739.42
Step 4 $115,310.56
Step 5 $119,885.82
Step 6 $124,455.93
Step 7 $130,679.19

Community Planning & Step 1 $101,595.08
Development Director Step 2 $106,170.34

Step 3 $110,739.42
Step 4 $115,310.56
Step 5 $119,885.82
Step 6 $124,455.93
Step 7 $130,679.19

Neighborhoods & Economic Step 1 $90,534.94
Development Director Step 2 $94,780.60

Step 3 $99,026.26
Step 4 $103,268.83
Step 5 $107,509.34
Step 6 $111,750.88
Step 7 $117,338.63

EMS/Fire Chief Step 1 $101,595.08
Step 2 $106,170.34
Step 3 $110,739.42
Step 4 $115,310.56
Step 5 $119,885.82
Step 6 $124,455.93
Step 7 $130,679.19

Chief of Police Step 1 $101,595.08
Step 2 $106,170.34
Step 3 $110,739.42
Step 4 $115,310.56
Step 5 $119,885.82
Step 6 $124,455.93
Step 7 $130,679.19

Parks and Recreation Director Step 1 $101,733.10
Step 2 $104,786.02
Step 3 $107,928.55
Step 4 $111,166.87
Step 5 $114,500.98
Step 6 $117,936.03
Step 7 $129,429.80



2025 Salaries for Non-Union Employees
Effective January 1, 2025

2025 Salary
Information Technology Director Step 1 $101,595.08

Step 2 $106,170.34
Step 3 $110,739.42
Step 4 $115,310.56
Step 5 $119,885.82
Step 6 $124,455.93
Step 7 $130,679.19

Director of Projects & Operations Step 1 $90,534.94
Step 2 $94,780.60
Step 3 $99,026.26
Step 4 $103,268.83
Step 5 $107,509.34
Step 6 $111,750.88
Step 7 $117,338.63

Part-Time Paramedic/FF $17.06-$20.85



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

12. A

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Board Members 

Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 

December 17, 2024

Township Manager Interviews/Hiring 

In August 2024, the Township Board selected Amy Cell Talent to conduct the search for the next 

Meridian Township Manager. After interviews with the Township Board and key staff members, a 

job posting and relevant criteria was established for the position. In October, the position was 

posted and the Board received 57 applications. Of those, 12 finalists were brought forward who 

met all of the Board's initial criteria representing a wide variety of experience. 

On November 26, the Board met in closed session and three candidates rose to the top of the 

finalist pool. Amy Cell Talent reached out to these candidates and they were granted interviews on 

December 3rd in a special meeting. Later, a public meet and greet reception was held for the public 

and staff to have a chance to meet the candidates and provide feedback via comment cards. This 

feedback was provided to the Board. 

This agenda item is set to provide an opportunity and space for the Board to discuss the 

appointment of a Township Manager. 

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration:  

MOVE TO OFFER___________ THE POSITION OF TOWNSHIP MANAGER FOR THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN. 

MOVE TO AUTHORIZE THE SUPERVISOR TO NEGOTIATE THE MANAGER'S CONTRACT WITH 
THE ASSISTANCE OF LEGAL COUNCIL AND THE HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR ON BEHALF 
OF THE BOARD.

Attachment:
1. Township Manager Finalists



‭Robert Charles Hillard‬

‭Education:‬

‭Master of Public Administration‬ ‭Western Michigan University‬
‭Kalamazoo, Michigan - December 1996‬

‭Bachelor of Science‬ ‭Western Michigan University‬
‭Kalamazoo, Michigan – April 1988‬
‭Major: Public Administration‬
‭Minor: Communication‬

‭Professional Experience:‬
‭City of Charlotte - Charlotte, Michigan - City Manager - May 2024 to Present‬
‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭of‬ ‭Charlotte,‬ ‭Michigan,‬ ‭is‬ ‭a‬ ‭city‬ ‭that‬ ‭provides‬ ‭services‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭areas‬ ‭of‬ ‭fire,‬ ‭police,‬
‭emergency‬ ‭preparedness,‬ ‭planning‬ ‭and‬ ‭development,‬ ‭code‬ ‭administration,‬ ‭economic‬
‭development,‬ ‭water‬ ‭distribution,‬ ‭wastewater‬ ‭treatment‬ ‭and‬‭collection,‬‭street‬‭maintenance,‬‭storm‬
‭sewer‬ ‭management,‬ ‭recycling‬ ‭collection,‬ ‭facility‬ ‭management,‬ ‭parks,‬ ‭as‬ ‭well‬ ‭as‬ ‭administrative‬
‭services.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭is‬ ‭responsible‬ ‭for‬ ‭the‬ ‭implementation‬ ‭of‬ ‭ordinance‬ ‭and‬ ‭policy‬
‭directives‬ ‭of‬ ‭a‬ ‭seven-member‬ ‭City‬ ‭Council,‬ ‭as‬ ‭well‬ ‭as‬ ‭the‬ ‭development‬ ‭and‬‭implementation‬‭of‬
‭capital‬ ‭plans‬ ‭and‬ ‭fiscal‬ ‭budgets.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬‭Manager‬‭is‬‭responsible‬‭for‬‭personnel‬‭management‬‭of‬
‭department‬‭directors‬‭and‬‭support‬‭staff.‬‭This‬‭effort‬‭includes‬‭staff‬‭collaboration‬‭in‬‭the‬‭development‬
‭of‬ ‭employee‬ ‭policies‬ ‭and‬ ‭negotiations‬ ‭with‬ ‭four‬ ‭labor‬ ‭unions.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭supports‬ ‭the‬
‭implementation‬ ‭of‬ ‭contract‬ ‭services‬ ‭including‬ ‭information‬‭technology,‬‭financial‬‭services,‬‭public‬
‭works‬ ‭services,‬ ‭and‬ ‭downtown‬ ‭outreach.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭assists‬ ‭departments‬ ‭and‬ ‭staff‬ ‭in‬
‭supporting‬‭many‬‭boards‬‭and‬‭commissions,‬‭including‬‭the‬‭Planning‬‭Commission,‬‭Airport‬‭Advisory‬
‭Board,‬ ‭Parks‬ ‭Advisory‬ ‭Board,‬ ‭and‬ ‭Downtown‬ ‭Development‬ ‭Authority.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬
‭initiates‬ ‭reviews‬ ‭and‬ ‭implements‬ ‭strategies‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭areas‬ ‭of‬ ‭City-owned‬ ‭property‬ ‭development,‬
‭comprehensive‬ ‭planning,‬ ‭and‬ ‭communication‬ ‭strategies.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭provides‬ ‭positive‬
‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭many‬ ‭governmental‬ ‭entities‬ ‭including‬ ‭federal,‬ ‭state,‬ ‭county,‬ ‭townships,‬ ‭and‬
‭cities.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭provides‬ ‭collaborative‬ ‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭many‬ ‭other‬ ‭organizations‬
‭throughout‬ ‭the‬ ‭City‬ ‭including‬ ‭medical‬ ‭facilities,‬ ‭industrial,‬ ‭downtown‬ ‭businesses,‬ ‭and‬ ‭retail‬
‭establishments.‬



‭City of Oberlin - Oberlin, Ohio - City Manager/Treasurer - December 2016 to Present‬
‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭of‬ ‭Oberlin,‬ ‭Ohio‬ ‭is‬ ‭a‬ ‭city‬ ‭that‬ ‭provides‬ ‭services‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭areas‬ ‭of‬‭fire,‬‭police,‬‭dispatch,‬
‭emergency‬ ‭preparedness,‬ ‭planning‬ ‭and‬ ‭development,‬ ‭code‬ ‭administration,‬ ‭economic‬
‭development,‬ ‭electric‬ ‭distribution‬ ‭and‬ ‭generation,‬ ‭water‬ ‭treatment‬ ‭and‬ ‭distribution,‬ ‭wastewater‬
‭treatment‬ ‭and‬ ‭collection,‬ ‭street‬ ‭maintenance,‬ ‭storm‬ ‭sewer‬ ‭management,‬ ‭engineering,‬ ‭refuse‬
‭collection‬ ‭and‬ ‭recycling‬ ‭services,‬ ‭facility‬ ‭management,‬ ‭parks‬ ‭and‬ ‭recreation,‬ ‭as‬ ‭well‬ ‭as‬
‭administrative‬‭services.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭is‬‭responsible‬‭for‬‭the‬‭implementation‬‭of‬‭ordinance‬‭and‬
‭policy‬ ‭directives‬ ‭of‬ ‭a‬ ‭seven-member‬ ‭City‬ ‭Council,‬ ‭as‬ ‭well‬ ‭as‬ ‭the‬ ‭development‬ ‭and‬
‭implementation‬‭of‬‭capital‬‭plans‬‭and‬‭fiscal‬‭budgets.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭is‬‭responsible‬‭for‬‭personnel‬
‭management‬‭of‬‭department‬‭directors‬‭and‬‭support‬‭staff.‬‭This‬‭effort‬‭includes‬‭staff‬‭collaboration‬‭in‬
‭the‬‭development‬‭of‬‭employee‬‭policies‬‭and‬‭negotiations‬‭with‬‭five‬‭labor‬‭unions.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬
‭supports‬ ‭the‬ ‭implementation‬ ‭of‬ ‭contract‬ ‭services‬ ‭including‬ ‭building‬ ‭inspection,‬ ‭information‬
‭technology,‬ ‭public‬ ‭transportation,‬ ‭downtown‬ ‭outreach,‬ ‭and‬ ‭energy‬ ‭services.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬
‭assists‬‭departments‬‭and‬‭staff‬‭in‬‭supporting‬‭many‬‭boards‬‭and‬‭commissions,‬‭including‬‭the‬‭Planning‬
‭Commission,‬ ‭Zoning‬ ‭Board‬ ‭of‬ ‭Appeals,‬ ‭Fire‬ ‭Board‬ ‭of‬ ‭Appeals,‬ ‭Open‬ ‭Space‬ ‭Commission,‬
‭Recreation‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Community‬ ‭Improvement‬ ‭Corporation,‬ ‭Historic‬ ‭Preservation‬
‭Commission,‬ ‭Housing‬ ‭Renewal‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Public‬ ‭Utilities‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Civil‬ ‭Service‬
‭Commission,‬ ‭Records‬ ‭Retention‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Resource‬ ‭Conservation‬ ‭and‬ ‭Recovery‬
‭Commission,‬ ‭and‬ ‭Human‬ ‭Relations‬ ‭Commission.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭initiates‬ ‭reviews‬ ‭and‬
‭implements‬ ‭strategies‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭areas‬ ‭of‬ ‭City-owned‬ ‭property‬ ‭development,‬ ‭active‬ ‭transportation,‬
‭comprehensive‬ ‭planning,‬ ‭and‬ ‭communication‬ ‭strategies.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭provides‬ ‭positive‬
‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭many‬ ‭governmental‬ ‭entities‬ ‭including‬ ‭federal,‬ ‭state,‬ ‭county,‬ ‭townships,‬ ‭and‬
‭cities.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭provides‬ ‭collaborative‬ ‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭many‬ ‭other‬ ‭organizations‬
‭throughout‬ ‭the‬ ‭City‬ ‭including‬ ‭a‬ ‭private‬ ‭college,‬ ‭medical‬ ‭facilities,‬ ‭senior‬ ‭housing,‬ ‭a‬ ‭federal‬‭air‬
‭traffic control center, industrial, downtown businesses, and retail establishments.‬

‭City of Allegan - Allegan, Michigan - City Manager/Clerk - September 2005 to July 2016‬
‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭of‬ ‭Allegan,‬ ‭Michigan‬ ‭is‬ ‭a‬ ‭city‬ ‭that‬ ‭provides‬ ‭services‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭areas‬ ‭of‬ ‭community‬
‭development,‬ ‭police,‬ ‭water‬ ‭treatment‬ ‭and‬ ‭distribution,‬ ‭sanitary‬ ‭sewer‬ ‭treatment‬ ‭and‬ ‭collection,‬
‭utility‬‭billing‬‭services,‬‭street‬‭maintenance,‬‭parks‬‭and‬‭recreation,‬‭two‬‭historical‬‭theaters,‬‭riverfront‬
‭amphitheaters,‬ ‭and‬ ‭many‬ ‭other‬ ‭amenities,‬ ‭downtown‬ ‭development‬ ‭and‬ ‭marketing,‬ ‭extensive‬
‭economic‬ ‭development‬ ‭services,‬ ‭airport‬ ‭facilities,‬ ‭election‬ ‭and‬ ‭voter‬ ‭registration,‬ ‭housing‬ ‭and‬
‭code‬ ‭enforcement,‬ ‭as‬ ‭well‬ ‭as‬ ‭a‬ ‭fire‬ ‭district,‬ ‭and‬ ‭ambulance‬ ‭services‬ ‭through‬ ‭contracts‬ ‭with‬
‭multiple‬ ‭jurisdictions.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭worked‬‭closely‬‭with‬‭a‬‭seven-member‬‭City‬‭Council‬‭on‬
‭the‬ ‭development‬ ‭of‬ ‭goals‬ ‭and‬ ‭policies,‬ ‭oversight‬ ‭of‬ ‭department‬ ‭directors‬ ‭and‬ ‭support‬ ‭staff,‬
‭negotiation‬ ‭of‬ ‭three‬ ‭labor‬ ‭union‬ ‭contracts,‬ ‭the‬ ‭preparation‬ ‭and‬ ‭presentation‬‭of‬‭capital‬‭and‬‭other‬
‭fiscal‬ ‭budgets,‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭development‬ ‭and‬ ‭implementation‬ ‭of‬ ‭a‬‭variety‬‭of‬‭economic‬‭development‬
‭programs.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭supported‬‭department‬‭directors‬‭in‬‭the‬‭support‬‭of‬‭many‬‭boards‬‭and‬
‭commissions,‬ ‭including‬ ‭the‬ ‭Planning‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Historic‬ ‭District‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Development‬
‭Committee,‬‭Finance‬‭Committee,‬‭Public‬‭Works‬‭Committee,‬‭Public‬‭Safety‬‭Committee,‬‭Downtown‬
‭Development‬ ‭Authority,‬ ‭Economic‬ ‭Development‬ ‭Corporation,‬ ‭Downtown‬ ‭Economic‬
‭Restructuring‬ ‭Committee,‬ ‭Downtown‬ ‭Design‬ ‭Committee,‬ ‭Business‬ ‭Park‬ ‭Association,‬ ‭Airport‬
‭Advisory‬‭Board,‬‭Parks‬‭Board,‬‭and‬‭Brownfield‬‭Redevelopment‬‭Authority.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭was‬
‭responsible‬ ‭for‬ ‭the‬ ‭financial‬ ‭management,‬ ‭grant‬ ‭development,‬ ‭and‬ ‭implementation‬ ‭for‬ ‭the‬



‭organization.‬ ‭Included‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬ ‭responsibility‬ ‭was‬ ‭maintaining‬ ‭positive‬ ‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭other‬
‭government‬ ‭units‬ ‭including‬ ‭federal,‬ ‭state,‬ ‭county,‬ ‭townships,‬ ‭and‬ ‭cities.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭was‬
‭responsible‬‭for‬‭contract‬‭services‬‭including‬‭building‬‭inspection,‬‭economic‬‭development,‬‭and‬‭other‬
‭services.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭provided‬‭collaborative‬‭relationships‬‭with‬‭many‬‭other‬‭organizations‬‭to‬
‭create‬‭opportunities‬‭for‬‭partnerships.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭trained‬‭department‬‭supervisors‬‭to‬‭locate‬
‭grants‬‭and‬‭financial‬‭opportunities‬‭to‬‭enhance‬‭facilities‬‭and‬‭programs.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭assisted‬
‭citizens‬‭in‬‭navigating‬‭policy‬‭and‬‭services,‬‭including‬‭neighborhood‬‭and‬‭business‬‭support.‬‭The‬‭City‬
‭Manager‬‭developed‬‭and‬‭implemented‬‭neighbor‬‭outreach‬‭programs.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭established‬
‭the‬‭Redevelopment‬‭Ready‬‭Community‬‭program‬‭in‬‭the‬‭City‬‭which‬‭involved‬‭system‬‭reorganization‬
‭and‬ ‭State‬ ‭compliance.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭coordinated‬ ‭the‬ ‭Riverfront‬ ‭Outreach‬ ‭project‬ ‭which‬
‭involved‬ ‭many‬ ‭community‬ ‭listening‬ ‭sessions,‬ ‭grant‬ ‭research‬ ‭and‬ ‭implementation,‬ ‭and‬ ‭project‬
‭development.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭reorganized‬ ‭the‬ ‭operations‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭airport,‬ ‭which‬ ‭included‬
‭in-house‬ ‭support‬ ‭from‬ ‭the‬ ‭Public‬ ‭Works‬ ‭Department.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭maintained‬ ‭proactive‬
‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭many‬ ‭institutions‬ ‭including‬ ‭a‬ ‭major‬ ‭pharmaceutical‬ ‭manufacturing‬ ‭facility,‬
‭medical facilities, county facilities, many industrial, downtown, and retail establishments.‬

‭Village‬ ‭of‬ ‭Yellow‬ ‭Springs‬ ‭-‬ ‭Yellow‬ ‭Springs,‬ ‭Ohio‬ ‭-‬ ‭Village‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭-‬ ‭November‬ ‭2000‬ ‭to‬
‭September  2005‬
‭The‬ ‭Village‬ ‭of‬ ‭Yellow‬ ‭Springs,‬ ‭Ohio‬ ‭is‬ ‭a‬ ‭village‬ ‭that‬ ‭provides‬ ‭services‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭areas‬ ‭of‬ ‭police,‬
‭planning,‬ ‭code‬ ‭administration,‬ ‭economic‬ ‭development,‬‭electric‬‭distribution,‬‭water‬‭treatment‬‭and‬
‭distribution,‬ ‭sanitary‬ ‭sewer‬ ‭treatment‬ ‭and‬ ‭collection,‬ ‭street‬ ‭maintenance,‬ ‭mediation‬ ‭services,‬
‭natural‬ ‭gas‬ ‭purchasing,‬‭refuse‬‭collection‬‭and‬‭recycling‬‭services,‬‭facility‬‭management,‬‭as‬‭well‬‭as‬
‭parks‬ ‭and‬ ‭recreation‬ ‭which‬ ‭included‬ ‭a‬ ‭community‬ ‭center‬ ‭and‬ ‭pool.‬ ‭The‬ ‭Village‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭was‬
‭responsible‬‭for‬‭the‬‭implementation‬‭of‬‭ordinances‬‭and‬‭policy‬‭directives‬‭of‬‭a‬‭five-member‬‭Village‬
‭Council,‬ ‭as‬ ‭well‬ ‭as‬ ‭the‬ ‭development‬ ‭of‬ ‭capital‬ ‭and‬ ‭multi-year‬ ‭fiscal‬ ‭budgets.‬ ‭Also,‬ ‭the‬‭Village‬
‭Manager‬‭was‬‭responsible‬‭for‬‭personnel‬‭management‬‭of‬‭department‬‭supervisors‬‭and‬‭support‬‭staff.‬
‭The‬ ‭Village‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭supported‬ ‭many‬ ‭boards‬ ‭and‬ ‭commissions,‬ ‭including‬ ‭the‬ ‭Planning‬
‭Commission,‬‭Zoning‬‭Board‬‭of‬‭Appeals,‬‭Community‬‭Improvement‬‭Corporation,‬‭Revolving‬‭Loan‬
‭Fund‬‭Committee,‬‭Design‬‭Advisory‬‭Board,‬‭Environmental‬‭Commission,‬‭Airport‬‭Advisory‬‭Board,‬
‭and‬ ‭Human‬ ‭Relations‬ ‭Commission.‬ ‭The‬ ‭Village‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭represented‬ ‭the‬ ‭Village‬ ‭on‬ ‭the‬
‭Springfield‬ ‭Airport‬ ‭Advisory‬ ‭Board,‬ ‭which‬ ‭involved‬ ‭participation‬ ‭with‬‭the‬‭Air‬‭National‬‭Guard.‬
‭The‬ ‭Village‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭was‬ ‭assigned‬ ‭special‬ ‭projects‬ ‭and‬ ‭reports‬ ‭on‬ ‭subjects‬‭including‬‭Wellhead‬
‭Protection,‬ ‭Blue‬ ‭Ribbon‬ ‭Finance,‬ ‭Police‬ ‭Chief‬ ‭Search,‬ ‭Downtown‬ ‭Parking‬‭Development,‬‭Solid‬
‭Waste‬‭Bid,‬‭and‬‭Employee‬‭Manual‬‭Updates.‬‭The‬‭Village‬‭Manager‬‭was‬‭responsible‬‭for‬‭maintaining‬
‭positive‬‭relationships‬‭with‬‭other‬‭government‬‭units‬‭including‬‭federal,‬‭state,‬‭county,‬‭townships,‬‭and‬
‭other‬ ‭cities.‬ ‭The‬ ‭Village‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭maintained‬ ‭proactive‬ ‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭many‬ ‭institutions‬
‭including a private college, and many industrial, downtown, and retail establishments.‬



‭City of Allegan - Allegan, Michigan - City Manager/Clerk - October 1995 to November 2000‬
‭The‬ ‭City‬ ‭of‬ ‭Allegan,‬ ‭Michigan‬ ‭is‬ ‭a‬ ‭city‬ ‭that‬ ‭provides‬ ‭services‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭areas‬ ‭of‬ ‭community‬
‭development,‬ ‭fire,‬ ‭police,‬ ‭water‬ ‭treatment‬ ‭and‬ ‭distribution,‬ ‭sanitary‬ ‭sewer‬ ‭treatment‬ ‭and‬
‭collection,‬ ‭utility‬ ‭billing‬ ‭services,‬ ‭street‬ ‭maintenance,‬ ‭parks‬ ‭and‬ ‭recreation‬ ‭which‬ ‭included‬ ‭a‬
‭sports‬ ‭complex,‬ ‭many‬ ‭parks,‬ ‭two‬ ‭historical‬ ‭theaters,‬ ‭riverfront‬ ‭amphitheaters,‬ ‭and‬ ‭many‬ ‭other‬
‭amenities,‬‭downtown‬‭development‬‭and‬‭marketing,‬‭promotions,‬‭extensive‬‭economic‬‭development‬
‭services,‬‭airport‬‭facilities,‬‭election‬‭and‬‭voter‬‭registration,‬‭housing‬‭and‬‭code‬‭enforcement,‬‭as‬‭well‬
‭as‬ ‭ambulance‬ ‭services‬ ‭through‬ ‭contracts‬ ‭with‬ ‭multiple‬ ‭jurisdictions.‬ ‭The‬ ‭City‬‭Manager‬‭worked‬
‭closely‬‭with‬‭a‬‭seven-member‬‭City‬‭Council‬‭on‬‭the‬‭development‬‭of‬‭goals‬‭and‬‭policies,‬‭oversight‬‭of‬
‭department‬‭supervisors‬‭and‬‭negotiation‬‭of‬‭union‬‭contracts‬‭with‬‭three‬‭labor‬‭unions,‬‭the‬‭preparation‬
‭and‬ ‭presentation‬ ‭of‬ ‭annual,‬ ‭multiple‬ ‭years,‬ ‭and‬ ‭capital‬ ‭budgets,‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭development‬ ‭and‬
‭implementation‬‭of‬‭a‬‭variety‬‭of‬‭economic‬‭development‬‭programs.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭worked‬‭with‬
‭department‬‭directors‬‭on‬‭providing‬‭support‬‭for‬‭many‬‭boards‬‭and‬‭commissions,‬‭including‬‭the‬‭City‬
‭Council,‬ ‭Planning‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Development‬ ‭Committee,‬ ‭Finance‬ ‭Committee,‬ ‭Public‬ ‭Works‬
‭Committee,‬ ‭Public‬ ‭Safety‬ ‭Committee,‬ ‭Historic‬ ‭District‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Downtown‬ ‭Development‬
‭Authority,‬ ‭Economic‬ ‭Development‬ ‭Corporation,‬ ‭Economic‬ ‭Restructuring‬ ‭Committee,‬ ‭Design‬
‭Committee,‬ ‭Tree‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Business‬ ‭Park‬ ‭Association,‬ ‭Tax‬ ‭Incremental‬ ‭Finance‬ ‭Authority,‬
‭Economic,‬ ‭Development‬ ‭Corporation,‬ ‭Brownfield‬ ‭Redevelopment‬ ‭Authority,‬ ‭Airport‬ ‭Advisory‬
‭Board,‬ ‭and‬ ‭Wellness‬ ‭Committee.‬ ‭Further,‬ ‭the‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭was‬ ‭responsible‬ ‭for‬ ‭the‬ ‭financial‬
‭management,‬‭and‬‭grant‬‭development‬‭and‬‭implementation‬‭for‬‭the‬‭organization.‬‭The‬‭City‬‭Manager‬
‭maintained‬ ‭positive‬ ‭relationships‬ ‭with‬ ‭other‬ ‭government‬ ‭units‬ ‭including‬ ‭federal,‬ ‭state,‬ ‭county,‬
‭townships, and cities.‬

‭Western‬‭Michigan‬‭University‬‭-‬‭Kalamazoo,‬‭Michigan‬‭-‬‭Part-Time‬‭Instructor‬‭-‬‭September‬‭1998‬‭to‬
‭November 2000‬
‭Prepared‬ ‭and‬‭lectured‬‭students‬‭in‬‭national,‬‭state,‬‭and‬‭local‬‭government,‬‭as‬‭well‬‭as‬‭governmental‬
‭budgeting and finance.‬

‭City‬‭of‬‭Allegan‬‭-‬‭Allegan,‬‭Michigan‬‭-‬‭Assistant‬‭City‬‭Manager‬‭-‬‭August‬‭1993‬‭to‬‭September‬‭1995‬
‭Assisted‬ ‭the‬ ‭City‬ ‭Manager‬ ‭in‬ ‭completing‬ ‭various‬ ‭operations‬ ‭including‬ ‭budget,‬ ‭personnel,‬ ‭and‬
‭festival‬ ‭management.‬ ‭Provided‬ ‭staff‬ ‭support‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭Planning‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Historic‬ ‭District‬
‭Commission,‬ ‭and‬ ‭Parks‬ ‭Commission.‬ ‭Administered‬ ‭and‬ ‭coordinated‬ ‭grants‬ ‭for‬ ‭infrastructure‬
‭including‬ ‭water,‬ ‭sanitary,‬ ‭stormwater,‬ ‭and‬ ‭streets.‬ ‭Provided‬ ‭direct‬ ‭oversight‬ ‭of‬ ‭airport‬
‭management,‬ ‭which‬ ‭involved‬ ‭securing‬ ‭funding‬ ‭for‬ ‭many‬ ‭projects,‬ ‭including‬ ‭an‬ ‭airport‬ ‭master‬
‭plan and taxiway expansions.‬



‭Village of Mattawan - Mattawan, Michigan - Village Manager/Clerk - May 1990 to August 1993‬
‭Organized‬ ‭construction‬ ‭of‬ ‭a‬ ‭new‬ ‭Village‬‭office‬‭building.‬‭Provided‬‭administrative‬‭support‬‭to‬‭the‬
‭Village‬ ‭Council,‬‭Planning‬‭Commission,‬‭and‬‭Zoning‬‭Board‬‭of‬‭Appeals,‬‭as‬‭well‬‭as‬‭other‬‭Council‬
‭committees.‬ ‭During‬ ‭this‬ ‭period,‬ ‭a‬ ‭Charter‬ ‭Review‬ ‭Committee‬ ‭was‬ ‭successful‬ ‭in‬ ‭adopting‬ ‭a‬
‭revised‬‭Charter‬‭for‬‭the‬‭Village.‬‭Reviewed‬‭site‬‭plans‬‭as‬‭Zoning‬‭Administrator‬‭and‬‭worked‬‭closely‬
‭with‬ ‭building‬ ‭inspectors‬ ‭to‬ ‭ensure‬ ‭proper‬ ‭communication.‬ ‭Prepared‬ ‭goal‬ ‭and‬
‭accomplishment-oriented‬ ‭budgeting,‬ ‭and‬ ‭invested‬ ‭funds‬ ‭to‬ ‭maximize‬ ‭revenue.‬ ‭Managed‬
‭personnel‬‭and‬‭coordinated‬‭land‬‭use,‬‭emergency‬‭preparedness,‬‭and‬‭water‬‭distribution‬‭plans‬‭for‬‭the‬
‭community.‬

‭West‬ ‭Shoreline‬ ‭Regional‬ ‭Planning‬ ‭Commission‬ ‭-‬ ‭Muskegon,‬ ‭Michigan‬ ‭-‬ ‭Transportation‬
‭Coordinator - April 1990‬
‭Researched‬‭corrections‬‭alternatives‬‭for‬‭County‬‭Prosecutor,‬‭as‬‭well‬‭as‬‭the‬‭Muskegon‬‭County‬‭Law‬
‭Enforcement Community. Further coordinated the carpool database for the region.‬

‭City of Allegan - Allegan, Michigan - Building Official - April 1988 to April 1990‬
‭Provided‬ ‭Zoning,‬ ‭Code‬ ‭Enforcement,‬ ‭and‬ ‭processed‬‭Historic‬‭District‬‭applications.‬‭The‬‭position‬
‭was‬ ‭responsible‬ ‭for‬ ‭the‬ ‭administration‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Planning‬ ‭Commission,‬ ‭Zoning‬ ‭Board‬‭of‬‭Appeals,‬
‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭Historic‬ ‭District‬ ‭Commission.‬ ‭Revamped‬ ‭rental‬ ‭licensing‬ ‭program‬ ‭to‬ ‭assure‬ ‭consistent‬
‭neighborhood‬ ‭property‬ ‭inspections.‬ ‭Provided‬ ‭inspection‬ ‭services‬ ‭for‬ ‭soil‬ ‭and‬ ‭sedimentation‬
‭control permits.‬

‭Membership, Certifications, and Board Positions (Past and Present)‬
‭FEMA Emergency Management Institute - ICS 300 and 800 Trainings (2019)‬
‭FEMA Emergency Management Institute - ICS 100, 200, and 700 Trainings (2006)‬
‭International City Managers Association (1990 to August 2024)‬
‭International City Managers Association - Credentialed Manager (2008-2013)‬
‭Ohio City Managers Association (2017 to May 2024)‬
‭Lorain County Mayors and Managers Association (2016 to May 2024)‬
‭Oberlin Community Improvement Corporation (2016 - 2021)‬
‭Michigan Local Government Managers Association (2006-2014)‬
‭Southwest Michigan City/County Managers Association (2006-2016)‬
‭Allegan Rotary - Red Rose Award (2014)‬
‭Allegan County College Network (2012-2014)‬
‭Allegan Area Chamber of Commerce Board Member (2008-2010)‬
‭Michigan‬ ‭State‬ ‭University‬ ‭-‬ ‭Business‬ ‭Solutions‬ ‭Professional‬ ‭-‬ ‭Certificate‬
‭(Summer 2009)‬
‭Allegan City Personnel/Finance Committee (2006-2016)‬
‭Allegan City Election Committee (2006-2016)‬
‭Allegan City Planning Commission (1995-2000, 2006-2015)‬



October 29, 2024 

Ms. Amy Cell 

Amy Cell Talent 

215 W. Michigan Ave. 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Dear Ms. Cell: 

I am enthused to submit my resume for Meridian Township’s manager position. My 30 years of 

professional experience, including 20 years in local government, make me an ideal candidate for 

moving the organization forward. I have a demonstrated record as a leader throughout my 

career, while bringing experience in municipal governance, fiscal management, team building, 

and intergovernmental relations. My existing relationships within the community would 

expedite and ease the leadership transition. 

I would approach this role as I have in my current and past positions, practicing servant 

leadership. I actively work to meet the needs of those I serve, including elected officials, staff, 

residents, and township stakeholders. This core principle drives my decision making, both 

internally and externally, which creates relationships of mutual trust and respect that empowers 

individuals and builds community.  

My work in the public, private, and nonprofit sectors has also taught me how to excel at creating 

and maintaining partnerships with people across political, organizational, socioeconomic, and 

racial backgrounds. I know what it takes to engage residents and staff, build trust, and reach 

consensus. My ability to work collaboratively is based on a foundation of strong ethics and 

transparency. 

As a Greater Lansing resident for nearly 20 years, I understand the importance of maintaining 

Meridian Township’s quality of life while simultaneously developing a collective vision to fulfill 

its tremendous potential. I welcome the opportunity to discuss how my dedication to public 

service and extensive skills would benefit Meridian Township.  

I request that my interest in this position remain confidential. Thank you for your consideration.  

Sincerely, 

Timothy H. Dempsey 



TIMOTHY H. DEMPSEY 
 

  
 

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS 
 High-performing executive with more than 24 years of management experience, including 15 at a senior 

level, covering all aspects of organizational operations, including program and project delivery, financial 
management, and human resources 

 Relationship builder with a demonstrated track record of developing strategic partnerships, both 
internally and externally, to execute complex organizational objectives 

 Creative problem solver able to navigate complex political and regulatory environments while delivering 
successful projects and programs in a timely manner 

 Expert in community and economic development having overseen $500 million of mixed-use and 
neighborhood redevelopment projects 

 Excellent written and oral communicator with the ability to connect with and inspire diverse audiences 
 Analytical thinker who understands broad topics and trends while paying attention to nuanced details 

 
AREAS OF EXPERTISE 

 Board and commission governance  Citizen engagement 
 Budgeting and financial analysis  Community and economic development 
 Communications and public relations  Emergency management 
 Data-driven decision making   Grants and contract management 
 Staff supervision and coaching  Human- and social-services delivery 
 Strategic planning and facilitation  Infrastructure planning 
 Technology deployment   Small business innovation and support 

 
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

Senior Vice President, Saginaw Future Inc., Saginaw, MI, 2023present 
 Support business retention and expansion activities to ensure the stability and growth of local employers 

by utilizing tax abatement programs, identifying state and federal funding, and connecting with talent 
resources 

 Provide technical assistance to local government partners on economic development strategies and 
programs 

 Assisting multiple townships and solar developers on the approval of community solar projects totaling 
445 megawatts and over $500 million of investment 

 Working with a major healthcare provider and the City of Saginaw to advance a workforce housing and 
neighborhood revitalization project 

 Manage initiatives for Michigan’s Prosperity Region 5 (eight-counties), implementing grants with 
economic development partners to improve strategic site readiness and facilitate the development of 
workforce housing 

 Market potential sites and investment opportunities to attract investment to Saginaw County and 
secured a Michigan MI Sites “Bronze” designation for a priority industrial park 

 Partner with state and federal agencies to leverage development resources and advance projects and local 
initiatives 

 Identify and pursue potential investors to financial support Saginaw Future’s programs and initiatives 
 
Interim Director of Planning, Building, and Development, City of East Lansing, MI, 2023 

 Served in an interim role on a contractual basis to assist with a critical staffing shortage (refer to prior 
Director role in 2012-2019 for relevant duties)  

 
 



Vice President, Public Sector Consultants, Lansing, MI, 20192023 
 Managed the firm’s talent and economics practice, overseeing a portfolio of 15 to 20 simultaneous

projects in the fields of community and economic development, government finance and tax policy, and
education

 Worked with a diverse array of public sector, nonprofit, and industry association clients at the state,
county, and local levels

 Served as the firm’s subject matter expert on local government and fiscal policy
 Provided technical assistance to the Michigan Municipal League’s ServeMICity program, providing

support to over 150 local governments
 Facilitated stakeholder sessions to understand complex issues, reach consensus, and developed strategic

plans, including for the Michigan Department of Treasury
 Participated in the firm’s leadership team, working closely with the president and CEO to develop

strategic and tactical approaches for both internal operations and external marketing
 Supervised a team of six direct reports and several affiliated consultants; managed team budgets and

financial goals; and hired, evaluated, and coached staff
 Led the firm’s analytics community of practice, an internal workgroup focused on implementing quality

assurance/quality control measures and improving the firm’s data analytics skills
 Responsible for pursuing business development opportunities and meeting sales targets

Deputy City Manager, City of East Lansing, MI, 20122019 
 Served as second-in-command of an $119 million organization, consisting of more than 400 employees,

including primary advisor to the city manager on a broad range of operational and policy matters
 Served as acting city manager during planned and unplanned absences of the city manager
 Worked closely with elected leadership to formulate, evaluate, adopt, and implement public policy
 Extensive training in emergency management, including the Texas A&M Engineering Extension

Services Enhanced Incident Management/Unified Command course
 Led an initiative to research and implement Lean Management principles to improve department and

organization performance
 Served on collective bargaining teams that negotiated labor agreements with multiple unions
 Delivered frequent presentations at a wide variety of public meetings, workshops, and community

events; handled regular media inquiries and worked with communications staff to enhance public
relations

 Testified before the Michigan Legislature on municipal issues

Director, Department of Planning, Building and Development, City of East Lansing, MI, 20122019 
Director, Department of Planning and Community Development, City of East Lansing, MI, 20092012 

 Managed five functional divisions (community/economic development, planning/zoning, building,
housing, and parking) with 25 full-time and 12 part-time employees, including employee recruitment,
hiring, performance reviews, and coaching/mentoring

 Oversaw 12 boards, commissions, and committees/task forces, working closely with residents to
formulate public policy and make recommendations to City Council

 Led efforts to update the city’s nonconforming code to encourage rental property improvements
 Facilitated mixed-use redevelopment projects totaling over $500 million in private and public investment
 Directed the implementation of the city’s new building permit and housing licensing software system
 Supervised the creation of the city’s Comprehensive (Master) Plan
 Developed annual operating and capital budgets exceeding $11 million and provided ongoing fiscal

oversight of revenues and expenses to meet financial goals
 Directed the consolidation of the Department of Planning and Community Development with the Code

Enforcement and Neighborhood Conservation, resulting in cost savings of $150,000
 Responsible for managing a 2,600-space downtown parking system, including implementation of over

$5 million capital improvement plan and a $1.2 million point-of-sale system



 
Assistant Director, City of East Lansing, MI, 20082009 
Community and Economic Development Administrator, City of East Lansing, MI, 20042008 

 Staff liaison for the Downtown Development Authority and Downtown Management Board, managing 
revitalization and business support activities 

 Led development of the Technology Innovation Center, associated business incubation activities, and 
partnership with Michigan State University 

 Led development of the Avondale Square housing project, a 26-unit, single-family, mixed-income 
housing redevelopment utilizing an array of state, federal, and local financing tools 

 Facilitated the transition of East Lansing Housing and Neighborhood Services into the regional housing 
entity Capital Area Housing Partnership 

 Participated in the city’s Associate Manager Program 
 
Director of Development, City of Saginaw, MI, 2004 

 Responsible for management of all planning, zoning, and building inspection activities for the city 
 Navigated projects with over $10 million of investment through brownfield, obsolete property, 

Renaissance Zone (tax free), and historic tax credit approval processes 
 Participated in the city’s senior leadership team reporting to the city manager 

 
Director, Saginaw Downtown Development Authority, Saginaw, MI, 2000–2004 

 Led business district revitalization efforts and managed two business district associations (Downtown 
Saginaw Association and West Saginaw Civic Association) 

 
Executive Director, Pennsylvania Downtown Center, Harrisburg, PA, 19981999 

 Led a statewide membership organization assisting over 100 communities with business district 
revitalization efforts and managed the Pennsylvania Main Street Program’s technical assistance support 

 
Senior Analyst, J Walter Thompson, Detroit, MI, 1997–1998 

 Managed analytical projects that utilized consumer research data to explain market performance for the 
restaurant, retail, and automotive industries 

 
Analyst/Senior Analyst, The Strategic Edge, Inc., Southfield, MI, 1994–1997 

 Undertook local, regional, and national real estate research projects for public and private entities 
including regional and national retailers 

 
AFFILIATIONS AND ADDITIONAL SKILLS 

 Member of the Michigan Economic Developers Association and International Economic Development 
Council 

 Former member of the Michigan Municipal League Land Use and Economic Development Committee  
 Experience with Entrepreneurial Operating System and Lean Management principles  
 Past lecturer in Geographic Information Systems, Michigan State University Department of Geography 
 Volunteer for Saginaw Rescue Mission, and past volunteer for MSU Alternative Spring Breaks, Meals on 

Wheels, Lansing Rescue Mission, St. John Food Cupboard, and Advent House 
 

EDUCATION 
 Master of Arts - Geography (Urban Planning and Retail Site Location concentrations) 

Miami University, Oxford, Ohio 
 Bachelor of Arts - Geography (Urban Planning concentration, Urban Studies minor) 

State University of New York at Geneseo 



Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP

October 28, 2024

Supervisor Scott Hendrickson

Treasurer Phil Deschaine

Clerk Deborah Guthrie

Trustee Peter Trezise

Trustee Marna Wilson

Trustee James McCurtis

Trustee Kathy Sundland

Supervisor Hendrickson and Board Members,

I appreciate your support as the Interim Township Manager over the past six months

and I am writing to express my desire to become the permanent Township Manager for

Meridian Township. My entire career has been in local government and as I have shown

over the past six months, my skills are well suited for the role. I have two decades of

experience on the front lines of municipal government, serving the general public and

forging positive relationships, work I look forward to continuing for many years to come

in the Township.

At each of my previous jobs, I have advanced my career, from entry level planning to my

current position as the Interim Township Manager and Community Planning and

Development Director, building both personal and professional relationships with my

peers and the public. In each community, my work has had progressively more

responsibility and I have taken a more active and visible role in the community. I can

say unequivocally that I have helped every community where I’ve worked to move

forward in a positive manner during my tenure.

I am a personable leader that effectively addresses public problems on a daily basis,

while collaborating well with all parties to implement community goals. I believe that

work should challenge you and I know that this job will continue to do that for me. I

would welcome the opportunity to discuss how I can help continue to improve our

Prime Community for decades to come. Thank you for your time and consideration and

I look forward to speaking to you further. Consistent with Michigan law, I am requesting

confidentiality for my application, until selected as a finalist for interview.

Sincerely,

Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP



Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP

EMPLOYMENT HISTORY

Charter Township of Meridian Interim Township Manager
April 2024 — Present

● Leader of a Staff of 170 full time and over 50 part time employees, all working to
implement the goals and vision of the Township Board and continue to build a prime
community for all residents.

● Stepped into the leadership role and began working with the MTeam to address issues
raised during the separation of the previous manager’s employment in order to improve
the overall work environment on a go forward basis.

● Oversaw development of the 2025 Township Budget, addressing short term financial
challenges, while making investments in targeted programs to benefit the Township’s
residents and support the Township Board’s goals.

● Assumed day to day management of the Utility Billing Department to provide stability to
Staff and work towards addressing long term issues in the Department.

● Continued to lead the Community Planning and Development Department, furthering
investment in the Community.

Charter Township of Meridian Director of Community Planning and Development
May 2021 — Present

● Director of Department encompassing long range planning, short range planning,
building, and code enforcement, with a Staff of 10.

● Oversaw update of the Township’s Comprehensive Plan in 2023, outlining development
goals for the following five years.

● Created and lead the creation of a number of Ordinance updates, including an overhaul of
the Mixed Use Planned Unit Development ordinance and consolidation of multiple
residential zoning districts to ease the development process in the Township.

● Responsible for the implementation and inspection of over $300,000,000 in private and
public investment since 2021 2021.

● Guide for private development through the Brownfield Tax Increment Financing incentive
process, in conjunction with the economic development director.

● Main Staff liaison to all local homeowners associations, politicians at all levels, and
members of the general public for all issues related to development or construction.



City of Howell Community Development Director
January 2015 — May 2021

● Project manager for all new private construction, from concept meeting to occupancy, at
all scales, including small single-family home additions to hundred thousand square foot
additions of operating manufacturing plants.

● Coordinator for two Community Development Block Grants, competitively awarded
through the State of Michigan’s federal allocation.

○ Complete reconstruction of State Street and nearby alleys into a fully barrier free
festival street, including utility rehabilitation and replacement (Initial award:
$1,753,179; Amended award: $2,021,245).

○ Exterior rehabilitation of two historic buildings at the ‘four corners’ of downtown
(Initial award: $242,782; Amended award: $268,914).

○ Designated Environmental Review Officer for completion and certification of the
Environmental Review per State and Federal standards.

● Manager for a Transportation Economic Development Fund grant through the Michigan
Department of Transportation (MDOT) to reconstruct a major industrial street.

● Guided private development projects through incentive approvals, including:
○ Brownfield Tax Increment Financing for a functionally obsolete building
○ Obsolete Property Rehabilitation Act abatement for an existing building/new use
○ Prepositioned a Commercial Rehabilitation Act district for redevelopment of an

underused commercial corridor with new form-based code zoning in place
● Director of all code enforcement activities in the city, including condemnation proceedings

on multiple single-family homes and one commercial structure.
● Led Certification into the Redevelopment Ready Communities program as the 30th

Michigan community to streamline the development process.
● Began implementation of non-motorized infrastructure in the city, including utilization of

the MDOT Training Wheels education program in the city.

City of East Lansing Community Development Analyst
July 2007 — December 2014

● Project manager for development proposals, encompassing project review, citizen
engagement, transition to building and construction, and agency coordination.

● Grant Manager for two grants under the Energy Efficiency Community Block Grant
program for modernization of internal lighting in City buildings and a LED streetlight
demonstration project.

● Neighborhood liaison to Oakwood and Harrison Meadows neighborhoods, dealing
with day-to-day issues in the area and being first point of contact for the residents.

● Construction manager for the Avondale Square development, a mixed income, public
private partnership redeveloping an entire City block.

● Historic Preservation Officer for the city, covering over a thousand owner occupied or
rental structures, balancing modernization with neighborhood preservation.

● Member of the City's Green Task Force, charged with increasing environmental
sustainability in everyday work and creating policies for long term sustainability.



City of Novi City Planner
September 2002 — July 2007

● Developed a statistical model for the City's ultimate build out, projecting a decade of
construction trends and the final residential profile based on existing zoning.

● Team member for development of a Fiscal Analysis of the health of the city and the
impacts of Proposal A on the city’s finances.

● Project manager for private development requests.

EDUCATION

Master's Degree in City and Regional Planning Received May 2002
The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio

● Specialization in Law and Administration
● President, City and Regional Planning Student Association

Bachelor of Science in Geography Received May 2000
Ohio University, Athens, Ohio

● Minor in Environmental Studies
● Specialization in Cartography

AFFILIATIONS

The Capital Collective— Co-Founder
Lansing 5:01— Board Member
Lansing Parks Foundation— Secretary, Founding member
Lansing Chamber of Commerce— 10 Over the Next 10 Award Winner



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

12.B

To: Township Board 

From: Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 
Interim Township Manager & Director of Community Planning 
and Development 

Date: December 12, 2024 

Re: Text Amendment #2024-09 – RN, Village of Nemoka District updates - 
INTRODUCTION 

Text Amendment #2024-09 is an ordinance update initiated by the Planning Commission to update 
the language for Sec. 86-377 – Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District. This proposed 
amendment eliminates references other sections of the Zoning Ordinance for allowed land uses, 
special land uses, and dimensional requirements. It also amends the allowed land uses and special 
land uses to eliminate land uses that are incompatible with the RN district and to bring the special 
land uses into conformance with Michigan Planning law. Finally, the subjective phrase, “uses 
permitted by special use permit from the Planning Commission or Planning Director” has been 
removed. 

The Planning Commission discussed the RN district language at the regular meetings on March 11, 
2024, March 25, 2024, and April 22, 2024. A public hearing was held at the regular Planning 
Commission meeting on June 10, 2024. This was followed by a unanimous recommendation of 
approval from the Planning Commission on June 24, 2024. The Township Board discussed the 
proposed change at their December 3, 2024 meeting, raised no major concerns and directed Staff to 
bring the ordinance back for Introduction.  

Staff recommends approval of the proposed ordinance at this time to amend the Code of Ordinances 
to update the RN, Village of Nemoka ordinance standards. Staff has provided the following 
recommended motion and attached resolution to introduce the ordinance.  

Move to adopt the resolution approving for introduction Text Amendment 
#2024-09 to amend the Code of Ordinances of the Charter Township of Meridian 
at Section 86-377 to update the standards for the RN, Village of Nemoka zoning 
district.  

Attachments 
1. Resolution to approve for Introduction Ordinance 2024-09
2. Ordinance 2024-09 – RN, Village of Nemoka District updates



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE – Introduction            Zoning Amendment #2024-09 
RN, Village of Nemoka District updates 

RESOLUTION 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 17th day of 
December, 2024, at 6:00 p.m., Local Time. 

PRESENT: ________ ________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT: 

The following resolution was offered by ____________________ and supported by 
_________________________. 

WHEREAS, Staff noticed a series of inconsistencies and language issues in the RN, Village of 
Nemoka zoning district when working with a potential developer on a property zoned RN; and 

WHEREAS, it was determined that a text amendment was necessary to clarify the ordinance 
and make the district easier to work within; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the matter on March 11, March 25, and April 
22, 2024 and held a public hearing on June 10, 2023, before recommending unanimous approval to 
the Township Board on June 24, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the ordinance would clarify the standards for developers and homeowners 
desiring to do work on properties zoned RN; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board reviewed the matter at their December 3rd meeting and 
raised no major concerns, directing Staff to introduce the ordinance; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby INTRODUCES FOR PUBLICATION AND SUBSEQUENT ADOPTION 
Ordinance No. 2024-09, entitled “An Ordinance to amend Section 96-377, RN, Village of Nemoka 
Mixed Residential District, of the Charter Township of Meridian Zoning Code to update the 
standards therein”; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Clerk of the Charter Township of Meridian is directed 
to publish the Ordinance in the form in which it is introduced at least once prior to the next regular 
meeting of the Township Board. 

ADOPTED: YEAS: __________________________________________________________________________________ 

NAYS:   __________________________________________________________________________________ 



Resolution to Approve – INTRODUCTION     Text Amendment 2024-09 
Page 2      RN, Village of Nemoka District updates 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is 
a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 
17th day of December, 2024. 

_____________________________ 
Angela Demas 
Township Clerk 



1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-09 1 
2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 86-377, RN, VILLAGE OF NEMOKA MIXED RESIDENTIAL 3 
DISTRICT, OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ZONING CODE TO UPDATE THE 4 

STANDARDS THEREIN 5 
6 

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 7 
8 

Section 1. Section 86-377, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, is hereby 9 
amended to read as follows:  10 

11 
(b) Uses permitted by right.12 

(1) Single-family dwellings13 
(2) Two-family dwellings14 
(3) Home occupations15 
(4) Other customary accessory uses and buildings, provided such uses and buildings are16 
incidental to the principal use and do not include any activity conducted as a business17 
(5) Public parks, playgrounds, and other public open space for recreational uses18 
(6) Railroad right-of-way19 
(7) The temporary storage of not more than one unoccupied travel trailer or camper trailer20 
upon each lot.21 
(8) Public educational institutions22 
(9) Private, noncommercial kennels23 
(10) Foster family homes and foster family group homes24 
(11) Garage sales, for no longer than three days and no more than twice per calendar year on the 25 
same property26 
(12) Family child care homes27 
(13) Family adult care homes28 

29 
(c) Uses permitted by special use permit.30 

(1) Group child care homes31 
(2) Development containing a mix of single-family detached dwellings and two-family dwellings;32 
a mix of two-family dwellings and multiple-family dwellings; or a mix of single-family detached33 
dwellings, two-family dwellings, and multiple-family dwellings. In any case the number of single-34 
family dwellings may not exceed more than 50% of the density (dwelling units per acre) allowed35 
for the proposed development. Multiple-family dwellings may be developed at a maximum36 
density of 14 dwelling units per acre.37 
(3) Community center when part of a housing project38 
(4) Nonresidential structures and uses in accordance with § 86-65439 

40 
(d) Procedure for obtaining special use permits. The procedures set forth in Section 86-125 shall be41 
followed. 42 

43 
(e) Duration and validity of permit. Special use permits granted in the RN district shall be subject to the44 
provisions of Section 86-128. 45 

46 
(f) Minimum design standards.47 

(1) Single-family detached structures.48 
a. Minimum lot area: 8,000 square feet, except that a two-family dwelling shall have49 
11,000 square feet.50 



2 

b. Minimum interior lot width: 65 feet, except that a two-family dwelling shall have 100 1 
feet.2 
c. Minimum corner lot width: 70 feet along the street upon which the lot fronts.3 
d. Maximum lot coverage: All buildings shall not cover more than 35% of the total area.4 
e. Minimum yard dimension:5 

i. Front yards. In accordance with the setback requirements of Section 86-367 for 6 
the type of street upon which the lot fronts.7 
ii. Side yards. Seven feet.8 
iii. Rear yards. For lots up to 150 feet in depth, the rear yard shall not be less than 9 
30 feet in depth. For lots over 150 feet in depth, the rear yard shall not be less10 
than 40 feet in depth.11 
iv. Corner lots. A front yard shall be maintained on each street side of a corner lot.12 
v. Through and reverse frontage lots: Principal buildings shall be located in13 
accordance with the front yard setback requirements of § 86-367 for the type of14 
streets upon which the through or reverse frontage lot abuts. Access to15 
residential sites shall be located on the street with the lowest functional16 
classification as illustrated in § 86-367. All regulations applicable to front yards17 
shall apply, except freestanding accessory buildings or structures proposed for18 
reverse frontage lots shall be located no closer than 30 feet from the right-of-way19 
of the designated rear yard.20 

f. Supplementary yard regulations. For permitted reductions in yard dimensions, for21 
permitted yard encroachments, and for placement of accessory buildings in yard areas,22 
refer to Article V, Division 4 of this chapter.23 
g. Maximum building height. No residential structure shall exceed 2 1/2 stories or 35 feet. 24 
Accessory buildings shall not exceed a height of 15 feet on any residential lot. For25 
permitted exceptions to residential building heights, refer to Article V, Division 5 of this26 
chapter. For building height limitations for nonresidential structures in residential27 
districts refer to § 86-654.28 

29 
(2) Multiple-family structures shall comply with the following minimum design standards.30 

a. Minimum lot area: There is no minimum lot area for a multiple-family structure,31 
provided that the density does not exceed 14 units per acre.32 
b. Minimum lot width: 100 feet.33 
c. Maximum lot coverage: All buildings shall not cover more than 35% of the total area.34 
d. Front yard: No less than 25 feet for one- or two-story buildings, with an additional35 
one foot required for each additional one foot the building exceeds 35 feet in height.36 
e. Side yards:37 

i. Three families to 10 families shall not be less than 15 feet.38 
ii. Greater than 10 families shall not be less than 25 feet from the property line for 39 
one- or two-story buildings, with an additional foot required for each additional40 
foot of height of the building over 35 feet.41 

f. Rear yard: Building shall not be less than 40 feet from the property line for one- or two-42 
story buildings, with an additional foot required for each additional foot of height of the43 
building over 35 feet.44 
g. Required setbacks: In addition to the foregoing, all buildings shall be located in45 
accordance with the particular setback requirement of § 86-367.46 
h. Distance from a single-family boundary: No single-family, two-family, or multiple-47 
family building designed, erected, or used for three or more families shall be located48 
closer than 50 feet to any single-family residential zone line, nor shall any accessory49 
building to a multiple structure containing three or more dwelling units be located closer 50 
than 50 feet to any single-family residential zone line.51 
i. Distance between buildings:52 

https://ecode360.com/28781502#28781502
https://ecode360.com/28781502#28781502
https://ecode360.com/28783506#28783506
https://ecode360.com/28783506#28783506
https://ecode360.com/28783728#28783728
https://ecode360.com/28781502#28781502


3 

i. Minimum distance. Buildings with two or more dwelling units shall be located1 
no closer than 25 feet to any other building. Detached single-family dwellings2 
shall be located no closer than 10 feet from any other building.3 
ii. Closed courts. No courts completely enclosed by building structure shall be4 
permitted; however, screen walls not exceeding six feet in height are permitted5 
to enclose what would otherwise be open court. All dimensional requirements for6 
open courts shall apply to such enclosed courts.7 
iii. Open courts.8 

1. Projecting wings of a building that form a court, enclosed on three9 
sides, shall conform to the following when the court face of either10 
wing contains windows from a living room, bedroom, or dining room:11 

a. The minimum distance between wings shall be 50 feet for12 
one-story buildings. For any additional stories added to13 
either wing, the distance shall be increased five feet for each14 
additional story added to either wing.15 

b. The maximum distance that a wing can project from the face16 
of a building shall be 1 1/2 times the horizontal distance17 
between wings.18 

2. Projecting wings of a building that form a court enclosed on three19 
sides shall conform to the following when neither court face of the20 
wings contains a window from a living room, bedroom, or dining21 
room:22 

a. The minimum distance between wings shall be 25 feet for23 
one-story buildings. For any additional stories added to24 
either wing, the distance shall be increased �ive feet for each25 
additional story added to either wing.26 

b. The maximum distance a wing can project from the face of a27 
building shall be 1 1/2 times the horizontal distance28 
between wings.29 

3. Other yard dimensions:30 
a. Any single-family detached dwelling, two-family dwelling,31 

or multiple-family structure containing three or more units32 
shall not be located closer than 20 feet to any street, access33 
road, driveway, or parking area.34 

b. Any single building or connected building may not exceed35 
200 feet in any one dimension. All buildings shall be so36 
arranged as to permit emergency vehicle access, by some37 
practical means, to all sides.38 

j. Maximum building height. Maximum building height shall not exceed 2 1/2 stories or39 
35 feet, except as noted below. No space below grade level shall be used for dwelling40 
purposes except as follows:41 

i. When the finished floor grade of the space below grade level is no more than42 
four feet below finished outside ground level at any point on the property of that43 
part of the structure enclosing the below-grade dwelling space.44 
ii. On sloping sites when the finished floor grade of the space below grade level is45 
finished outside ground level for at least the length of one wall. In the same46 
instance, such dwelling space have either adequate through- or cross-ventilation.47 

k. Signs. Identifying any of the permitted uses in this district shall be in accordance with48 
those requirements specified in Article VII of this chapter.49 
l. Parking requirements. For motor vehicle and bicycle parking requirements, refer to50 
§ 86-366 and Article VIII of this chapter. In addition, every multiple-family structure51 
shall provide motor vehicle parking facilities which:52 

https://ecode360.com/28783851#28783851
https://ecode360.com/28781501#28781501
https://ecode360.com/28784006#28784006


4 

i. Are appropriately spaced and divided by landscaped areas as opposed to one 1 
continuous parking lot.2 
ii. Are screened by landscaping and physical structures and, where feasible,3 
depressed below eye level or enclosed.4 
iii. Are served by two points of access to public street when there are 50 or more5 
dwelling units in the project.6 
iv. Are served by access to a public street other than a local street when there are7 
25 or more dwelling units in the project.8 
v. Shall provide a minimum of 180 square feet in area for each vehicle parking9 
space, each space shall be definitely designated and reserved for parking10 
purposes, and each space shall be accessible separately from a drive.11 
vi. May be allowed within or under any multiple-family structure; however,12 
carports or surface parking shall not be located closer than 20 feet to any13 
multiple-family residential structure.14 
vii. Shall have no parking located farther than 150 feet from one entrance to the15 
multiple-family structure which it is intended to serve.16 
viii. Shall have no commercial repair work, servicing, or selling of any kind17 
conducted on any parking area.18 

m. Storage of refuse. All refuse containers, including trash and recycling containers, shall19 
be enclosed on at least three sides by a screening device approved by the Planning20 
Director, subject to the following provisions:21 

i. For existing uses receiving a certificate of occupancy prior to the effective date22 
of this section, recycling containers shall be placed adjacent to other refuse23 
containers on-site. If the Planning Director determines that it is not practical to24 
place the container adjacent to other refuse containers on the site, such25 
containers may be placed in parking areas, provided that the space used for the26 
container shall not occupy required parking spaces, and further provided that27 
recycling containers shall be enclosed on three sides by a screening device28 
approved by the Planning Director.29 
ii. For uses receiving a certificate of occupancy after the effective date of this30 
section, recycling containers shall meet the requirements of this section and the31 
requirements for site plan review under Article II, Division 5, of this chapter.32 

n. Landscaping required. Landscaping acceptable to the Planning Commission shall be33 
provided in open spaces, around buildings, and within parking areas. No occupancy34 
permit may be issued until landscaping has been inspected and approved or a35 
performance bond equal to the estimated cost has been posted with the Township.36 

i. A plan for control of soil erosion which meets the Township's standards for soil37 
erosion and sedimentation control shall be carried out during the construction38 
and completion of the project.39 
ii. When deemed necessary by the Planning Commission, in order to protect40 
surrounding properties, appropriate screening of plant materials, wood, or brick, 41 
approved by the Planning Commission, may be required.42 

o. Those sites which contain wetlands and/or floodplains shall be permitted a maximum43 
number of units based on the following formula:44 

45 
N = A x D x C 46 

47 
Where: 48 

49 
N = Maximum number of units permitted. 50 
A = Area of site outside the �loodplain and wetland. 51 
D = Allowable density 52 

https://ecode360.com/28780993#28780993


5 

C = 1 + percent of site in �loodplain and wetland expressed as decimal 1 
2 

For purposes of this chapter, wetland areas are those lands which meet the definition of 3 
a wetland set forth in § 30301 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act 4 
(MCL § 324.30301). For purposes of this chapter, floodplain areas are those lands which 5 
meet the definition contained in § 86-436(b). 6 

7 
Section 2. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 8 

invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity 9 
or effectiveness of the remainder of the Ordinance. 10 

11 
Section 3. Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 12 

hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and 13 
effect. 14 

15 
Section 4. Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 16 

that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 17 
18 

Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective seven (7) days after its publication 19 
or upon such later date as may be required under Section 402 of the Michigan Zoning 20 
Enabling Act (MCL 125.3402) after filing of a notice of intent to file a petition for a 21 
referendum. 22 

23 
ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 24 
XXXXXXX, 2024. 25 

26 
27 

______________________________ 28 
Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 29 

30 
31 

______________________________ 32 
Angela Demas, Township Clerk 33 

https://ecode360.com/28782493#28782493


 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

12.C 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 

Interim Township Manager &  
Director of Community Planning and Development 

 
Date:  December 13, 2024 
 
Re: Fourth Quarter Budget Amendments 
 
In conjunction with our partners at Plante Moran, I am pleased to submit the 4th Quarter budget 
amendments. These amendments reconcile revenue and expenditures for the year, ensuring a 
balanced budget. As has been consistent throughout the year, the main expenditure increases from 
the originally approved budget are the new fire truck, police and fire wages/overtime, election costs, 
and legal fees.  
 
The projected Fund Balance for the General Fund is as follows: 
 
 Fund balance on December 31, 2023     $12,352,523 
 
  Original budgeted to Fund Balance 2024     $114,370 
  Initial Budget Amendments    ($655,804) 
  1st Quarter Budget Amendments           ($640)  
  2nd Quarter Budget Amendments   ($193,323) 
  3rd Quarter Budget Amendments   ($991,462) 
  4th Quarter Budget Amendments      $753,860 
 
  Projected use of Fund Balance    ($972,999) 
 
 Projected Fund Balance at December 31, 2024   $11,379,524 
 
 Fund Balance/Average Monthly Expenditures     5.23 
 
Amendments in the special revenue funds bring revenue and expenditures in line with yearend 
spending. Major changes include the bond revenue sold in November for the local road program, 
substantially higher interest collections across the board, and inclusion of a payment from the 
County for the MSU to Lake Lansing trail.  
 
The following motion is proposed: 
Move to approve the attached 2024 Fourth Quarter Budget Amendments, which results in a 
projected fund balance at December 31, 2024 of $11,379,524.  
 
Attachment: 

1. 2024 4th Quarter Budget Amendments 
 
 



Fund/Department/Account Description Amount Explanation Account

General Fund

Revenues
Trailer Park Collections 50$                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-406.000
Delinquent Property Taxes 335                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-412.000
Tax Penalties 1,785                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-445.000
Tax Administration Fee 37,855              Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-447.000
Building Permits 323,030            Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-476.000
Mechanical Permits 12,560              Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-476.100
Electrical Permits 23,820              Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-476.200
Liquor License Application Fee 2,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-476.500
Franchise Fees - Cable TV 23,150              Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-477.000
Cable PEG Fees (15,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-000.000-477.500
Other Permits 3,110                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-478.000
Soil Erosion Inspection Fees 45                      Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-478.010
Mobile Food Vendor Permits 200                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-479.000
Marihuana Application Fees 30,000              Recreational marihuana applications 101-000.000-481.000
State Grant Revenue 198,720            Election reimbursement received from State 101-000.000-540.100
METRO Act Fees 6,465                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-542.500
Liquor Tax Refund 8,230                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-568.000
Local Community Stabilization Share 95                      Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-573.000
Fire Inspection Charges 1,900                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-605.000
Recreation Program Revenue 3,565                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.500
Sporties for Shorties 6,065                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.501
Sand Volleyball 985                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.502
Recreation - Baseball 24,385              Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.510
HYRA Basketball 915                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.801
HYRA T-Ball 3,630                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.802

Year End Budget Amendments
2024 Budget

Charter Township of Meridian



HYRA Flag Football 16,720              Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.803
HYRA Soccer 54,750              Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-606.804
Planning Department 3,700                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-616.000
Cemetery Revenue 6,375                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-619.000
Rental Housing Reinspection Fees 1,840                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-627.010
Rental Registration 6,400                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-627.015
Rental Registration Renewal 210                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-627.016
Vacant/Abandoned Registration 275                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-627.017
Copies 40                      Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-637.000
Police Desk Revenue 395                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-637.010
FOIA Requests - Copies 1,165                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-637.020
Electronic Copies 1,200                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-637.500
Surplus Property 250                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-647.010
Parking Tickets 715                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-656.000
Ordinance Fines 495                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-657.000
Fines-UTC Enforcement 4,795                 Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-657.010
Interest 93,390              Higher interest rates 101-000.000-665.000
Miscellaneous 605                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-675.000
Reimbursements 11,090              Blue Care Network reimbursement 101-000.000-676.000
Reimbursements-Police 145                    Higher than anticipated 101-000.000-676.020
Reimbursements-Fire 20,680              Reimbursements from Consumers Energy, MSU, ELFD 101-000.000-676.030
Reimbursements-School Security 8,720                 Haslett/Okemos Football games 101-000.000-676.300

Total Revenues 931,850$         

Expenditures
Township Board - Operating Supplies 265$                  Higher than anticipated 101-100.101-728.000
Township Board - Professional Services 190                    Higher than anticipated 101-100.101-821.000

Administrative Services - Unemployment Compensation (1,000)               Unemployment not charged to this department 101-170.173-724.000
Administrative Services - Claim Reimbursement (5,000)               Lower than anticipated 101-170.173-806.000
Administrative Services - Legal Fees-Labor Relations 6,500                 Higher labor related legal activity 101-170.173-808.200
Administrative Services - Ambulance Billing 11,250              More ambulance runs/billing 101-170.173-836.000
Administrative Services - Utilities-Electric/Gas/Water (35,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-170.173-920.000
Administrative Services - Telephone & Data Services (10,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-170.173-921.000
Administrative Services - Utilities-Street Lights 72,000              Rate increase, installation of new street lights 101-170.173-922.000



Accounting - Salaries-Temporary 43,500              Staffing to cover maternity leave and staff turnover 101-170.191-701.080
Accounting - Operating Supplies 3,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.191-728.000

Clerk - Salaries 6,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.215-701.000
Clerk - Overtime 8,200                 Three elections and early voting in CY 101-170.215-706.000
Clerk - FICA 2,800                 Higher due to increased overtime 101-170.215-714.000
Clerk - Health Insurance 2,200                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.215-715.000
Clerk - Pension 13,500              Higher than anticipated 101-170.215-717.000
Clerk - Publications (500)                   Not used in CY 101-170.215-750.000
Clerk - Contractual Services 6,000                 More public notices/legal ads 101-170.215-820.000

Information Technology - Salaries 3,200                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.228-701.000
Information Technology - FICA 350                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.228-714.000
Information Technology - Health Insurance 1,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.228-715.000
Information Technology - Health Care Savings Plan 75                      Higher than anticipated 101-170.228-717.500
Information Technology - Training (5,125)               Move budget to salaries, FICA, health insurance, HCSP 101-170.228-819.000

Treasurer - Health Insurance 1,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.253-715.000
Treasurer - Operating Supplies 550                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.253-728.000
Treasurer - Contractual Services 2,200                 Investment advisor services, invoice cloud fees 101-170.253-820.000
Treasurer - Professional Conferences/Dues 1,450                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.253-825.000
Treasurer - Mileage 100                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.253-870.000
Treasurer - Printing/Publishing 6,000                 Increase in printing costs 101-170.253-900.000

Elections - Salaries-Temporary 55,000              Three elections, early voting, AVs 101-170.262-701.080
Elections - Salaries-August Primary 100                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.262-701.130
Elections - Salaries-November Election 53,000              Presidential election 101-170.262-701.140
Elections - Salaries-Early Voting (24,300)             Account not used, exp included in above 101-170.262-701.163
Elections - Overtime 5,500                 Three elections in CY 101-170.262-706.000
Elections - FICA 6,200                 Three elections in CY 101-170.262-714.000
Elections - Health Care Savings Plan (400)                   HCSP not charged in this department 101-170.262-717.500
Elections - Operating Supplies 750                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.262-728.000
Elections - Supplies-Aug Election 1,600                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.262-728.002
Elections - Contractual Services 2,500                 Election notices, AV machine testing 101-170.262-820.000
Elections - Professional Conferences/Dues 500                    Budget error 101-170.262-825.000



Elections - Mileage 150                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.262-870.000

Building Maintenance - Health Insurance 1,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.265-715.000
Building Maintenance - Operating Supplies 1,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.265-728.000
Building Maintenance - Solid Waste Container Services (2,500)               Lower than anticipated 101-170.265-828.000
Building Maintenance - Building Repairs (7,000)               Lower than anticipated 101-170.265-930.000
Building Maintenance - Building Maintenance (8,000)               Lower than anticipated 101-170.265-937.000

Admin & Human Resources - Salaries 30,000              Higher than anticipated 101-170.270-701.000
Admin & Human Resources - FICA 1,300                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.270-714.000
Admin & Human Resources - Health Insurance 11,000              Higher than anticipated 101-170.270-715.000
Admin & Human Resources - Professional Conferences/Dues (3,000)               Lower than anticipated 101-170.270-825.000
Admin & Human Resources - Physicals 4,800                 More activity due to police department hires 101-170.270-835.000
Admin & Human Resources - Mileage 75                      Higher than anticipated 101-170.270-870.000

Grounds Maintenance - Salaries 1,200                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.271-701.000
Grounds Maintenance - Overtime (1,200)               Move to salaries 101-170.271-706.000
Grounds Maintenance - Health Insurance 1,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.271-715.000
Grounds Maintenance - Grounds Maintenance (15,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-170.271-934.000

Cemetery - Salaries 2,400                 Higher than anticipated 101-170.567-701.000
Cemetery - Overtime 400                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.567-706.000
Cemetery - Health Insurance 100                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.567-715.000
Cemetery - Contractual Services 800                    Higher than anticipated 101-170.567-820.000

Police - Salaries (47,500)             Move to Overtime accounts 101-300.301-701.000
Police - Salaries-Crossing Guards 1,400                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.301-701.050
Police - Salaries-Cadets (3,500)               Move to Uniforms for cadet uniforms 101-300.301-701.170
Police - Overtime 35,000              Higher due to staffing shortages 101-300.301-706.000
Police - Overtime-Court Hearings 3,000                 Higher due to staffing shortages 101-300.301-706.010
Police - Overtime-School Security 95,000              Per Chief's request 101-300.301-706.040
Police - Overtime-Canine Unit 1,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.301-706.050
Police - Overtime-Training 5,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.301-706.060
Police - Overtime-Holiday 3,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.301-706.070
Police - Health Care Savings Plan 9,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.301-717.500



Police - Physical Fitness Awards (4,600)               
Move to Machinery & Equipment for new gym 
equipment 101-300.301-720.000

Police - Licenses (10,500)             
Move to Machinery & Equipment for new gym 
equipment 101-300.301-727.000

Police - Operating Supplies (1,000)               Move to Training for cuff dummy 101-300.301-728.000

Police - Ammunition (1,000)               
Move to Machinery & Equipment for glocks, red dots, 
and holsters 101-300.301-739.000

Police - Uniforms 14,500              
Cadet uniforms ($3,500), uniforms ($2,000), rain coats 
($2,000), coats ($7,000) 101-300.301-760.000

Police - Shoes and Boots (2,000)               Move to Uniforms 101-300.301-764.000

Police - 911 Operation (6,000)               

Move to Uniforms for rain coats ($2,000), move to 
Machinery and Equipment for glocks, red dots, and 
holsters ($4,000) 101-300.301-820.040

Police - Printing Contract 2,000                 Offset by higher parking citation revenue 101-300.301-820.060
Police - Radio Maintenance (2,000)               Move to Machinery & Equipment for earbuds 101-300.301-827.000

Police - Training 20,000              
Cuff dummy ($1,000), DARE training ($1,250), police 
academy tuition 101-300.301-831.000

Police - Machinery and Equipment 31,600              

Gym Equipment ($15,100), glocks, red dots, and 
holsters ($5,000), evidence camera ($5,500), flashlights 
for firearms ($3,000), earbuds ($6,000) 101-300.301-979.000

Fire Department - Salaries-Acting Pay 5,100                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-701.070
Fire Department - Holiday Payout 14,500              Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-702.010
Fire Department - Overtime 46,000              Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-706.000
Fire Department - Overtime-Training 4,300                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-706.060
Fire Department - Overtime-Holiday 7,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-706.070
Fire Department - Longevity 675                    Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-710.000
Fire Department - FICA 4,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-714.000
Fire Department - Health Insurance 9,500                 Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-715.000
Fire Department - Insurance Opt Out 375                    Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-715.010
Fire Department - Workers Compensation (75,000)             Budget error, lower than anticipated 101-300.336-718.000
Fire Department - Emergency Medical Training 16,500              Higher than anticipated 101-300.336-823.000
Fire Department - Radio Maintenance (10,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-300.336-827.000
Fire Department - Training (10,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-300.336-831.000



Human Services - Salaries 150                    Higher than anticipated 101-600.670-701.000
Human Services - Health Insurance (12,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-600.670-715.000
Human Services - Insurance Opt Out (4,500)               Employee does not opt out of health insurance 101-600.670-715.010

Dev-Planning/Admin - Health Insurance 1,900                 Higher than anticipated 101-700.701-715.000

Dev-Building Division - Salaries 18,000              Higher than anticipated 101-700.703-701.000
Dev-Building Division - FICA 500                    Higher than anticipated 101-700.703-714.000
Dev-Building Division - Health Insurance 3,200                 Higher than anticipated 101-700.703-715.000
Dev-Building Division - Computer Services/Supplies (15,000)             No activity 101-700.703-826.000
Dev-Building Division - Mileage 550                    Mileage to/from conferences 101-700.703-870.000

Parks and Recreation Admin - Salaries 18,000              Higher than anticipated 101-750.753-701.000
Parks and Recreation Admin - Salaries-Temporary 1,300                 Higher than anticipated 101-750.753-701.080
Parks and Recreation Admin - FICA 2,100                 Higher than anticipated 101-750.753-714.000
Parks and Recreation Admin - Health Insurance 3,600                 Higher than anticipated 101-750.753-715.000
Parks and Recreation Admin - Community Promotion (5,000)               Lower than anticipated 101-750.753-880.000

Recreation - Salaries-Temporary (2,500)               Lower than anticipated 101-750.754-701.080
Recreation - Recreation Program Expenses (7,500)               Lower than anticipated 101-750.754-882.500
Recreation - Soccer (10,000)             Lower than anticipated 101-750.754-882.604
Recreation - Baseball/Softball (6,600)               Lower than anticipated 101-750.754-882.605
Recreation - Recreation Uniforms (5,000)               Lower than anticipated 101-750.754-882.607
Recreation - Miscellaneous 2,400                 Card Connect fees 101-750.754-955.000

Park Maintenance - Overtime 3,000                 Higher than anticipated 101-750.758-706.000
Park Maintenance - Operating Supplies (3,000)               Lower than anticipated 101-750.758-728.000

Community Activities - Community Promotion-Pride Event 1,010                 Higher than anticipated 101-750.775-880.110

Cable TV - Health Insurance 350                    Higher than anticipated 101-750.806-715.000
Cable TV - Professional Conferences/Dues (6,400)               Do not expect to use remaining budget for this year 101-750.806-825.000
Cable TV - Community Promotion (3,100)               Do not expect to use remaining budget for this year 101-750.806-880.000



Capital Outlay - Construction/Improvements (210,000)           

Public Safety Building standby generator replacement 
expected to occur in 2025 ($115,000).  North Fire 
Station Solar project expected to occur in 2025 
($95,000). 101-900.901-974.000

Total Expenditures 177,990$         

Net to Fund Balance 753,860$         

Pension Stabilization Fund

Revenues
Interest 65,150$            Higher interest rates 103-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 65,150$            

Special Revenue Funds

Local Roads Fund

Revenues
Interest (53,000)$           Spend down of cash balance due to road projects 204-000.000-665.000
Other Financing Source-Bond Proceeds 10,237,520      Proceeds from 2024 road bond issuance 204-000.000-696.000

Net to Fund Balance 10,184,520$    

Park Millage Fund

Revenues
Delinquent Property Taxes 50$                    Higher than anticipated 208-000.000-412.000
Interest 24,600              Higher interest rates 208-000.000-665.000
Harris Center 4,000                 Higher than anticipated 208-000.000-667.020

Total Revenues 28,650$            



Expenditures
Parks and Recreation Admin - Salaries 22,000$            Higher than anticipated 208-750.753-701.000
Parks and Recreation Admin - Salaries-Temporary (13,440)             Not used in 2024 208-750.753-701.080
Parks and Recreation Admin - FICA 350                    Higher than anticipated 208-750.753-714.000
Parks and Recreation Admin - Health Insurance 150                    Higher than anticipated 208-750.753-715.000
Parks and Recreation Admin - Mileage 50                      Higher than anticipated 208-750.753-870.000
Parks and Recreation Admin - Property Taxes (1,400)               Lower than anticipated 208-750.753-965.000

Harris Nature Center - Salaries 150                    Higher than anticipated 208-750.756-701.000
Harris Nature Center - Health Insurance 1,100                 Higher than anticipated 208-750.756-715.000

Park Maintenance - Utilities-Electric/Gas/Water 7,500                 Towner Rd park utilities for October 208-750.758-920.000

Total Expenditures 16,460$            

Net to Fund Balance 12,190$            

Park Restricted/Designated Fund

Revenues
Sponsor Revenue 1,750$              Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-647.050
Interest 1,750                 Higher interest rates 211-000.000-665.000
Farm Market 5,000                 Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-667.030
Market Vendor Revenue 15,000              Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-667.035
Donations - HNC 370                    Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-674.100
Donations - Native Plant Sale 1,200                 Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-674.101
Donations - Compost 120                    Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-674.200

Total Revenues 25,190$            

Expenditures
Celebrate Downtown - Sponsored Expense 215$                  Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-892.000
Food Assistance Reimbursements 1,000                 Higher than anticipated 211-000.000-956.081

Total Expenditures 1,215$              



Net to Fund Balance 23,975$            

Fire Restricted/Designated Fund

Revenues
Interest 30$                    Higher interest rates 214-000.000-665.000

Expenditures
Firefighters Community Outreach Expense 360$                  AED accessories 214-000.000-956.015

Net from Fund Balance (330)$                

Pedestrian Bikepath Millage Fund

Revenues
Delinquent Property Taxes 20$                    Higher than anticipated 216-000.000-412.000

Other Intergovernmental Revenue 140,856            
Payments from Ingham County for MSU to Lake Lansing 
Phases IIb & III 216-000.000-581.000

Interest 37,350              Higher interest rates 216-000.000-665.000
Reimbursements 5,900                 Higher than anticipated 216-000.000-676.000

Total Revenues 184,126$         

Expenditures
Health Insurance 100$                  Higher than anticipated 216-440.450-715.000
Contractual Services 12,300              Higher than anticipated 216-440.450-820.000

Total Expenditures 12,400$            

Net to Fund Balance 171,726$         

Land Preservation Millage Fund

Revenues
Delinquent Property Taxes 10$                    Higher than anticipated 217-000.000-412.000



Interest 68,000              Higher interest rates 217-000.000-665.000

Total Revenues 68,010$            

Expenditures
Salaries - Temporary (7,000)$             Not used in 2024 217-000.000-701.080
Health Insurance 250                    Higher than anticipated 217-000.000-715.000
Operating Supplies (20,000)             Lower than anticipated 217-000.000-728.000
Legal Fees (5,000)               Not used in 2024 217-000.000-808.000
Professional Services (20,000)             Lower than anticipated 217-000.000-821.000

Total Expenditures (51,750)$          

Net to Fund Balance 119,760$         

Land Preservation Reserve Fund

Revenues
Interest 23,500$            Higher interest rates 218-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 23,500$            

Senior Center Millage Fund

Revenues
Interest 10,600$            Higher interest rates 223-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 10,600$            

Cable TV Fund

Revenues
Interest 4,100$              Higher interest rates 230-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 4,100$              



Police Restricted/Designated Fund

Revenues
Grant Revenue - Federal 145$                  Higher than anticipated 232-000.000-502.000
Interest 575                    Higher interest rates 232-000.000-665.000
Donations - Police Designated 520                    Higher than anticipated 232-000.000-674.040
Police Training PA 302 3,725                 Higher than anticipated 232-000.000-674.050

Total Revenues 4,965$              

Expenditures
Uniforms 1,800$              Bulletproof vests 232-000.000-760.000

Net to Fund Balance 3,165$              

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Fund

Expenditures
Brownfield Redevelopment - Contractual Services 3,000$              Higher than anticipated 243-700.707-820.000

Net from Fund Balance (3,000)$             

Economic Development Fund

Revenues
Sponsor Revenue 4,200$              Juneteenth sponsorship 244-000.000-647.060
Interest 125                    Higher interest rates 244-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 4,325$              

Downtown Development Authority Fund

Revenues
Current Property Taxes 13,620$            Higher than anticipated 248-000.000-402.000

Net to Fund Balance 13,620$            



Library Millage Fund

Revenues
Interest 700$                  Higher interest rates 271-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 700$                  

Community Needs Fund

Revenues
Interest 950$                  Higher interest rates 272-000.000-665.000
Donations - HRC Emergency Services 8,000                 Higher than anticipated 272-000.000-674.060

Total Revenues 8,950$              

Expenditures
Emergency Fund 4,100$              Higher need than anticipated 272-000.000-956.070
Back to School Supplies 2,520                 Budget error - offset by back to school donations 272-000.000-956.072

Total Expenditures 6,620$              

Net to Fund Balance 2,330$              

Law Enforcement Grants Fund

Revenues
Grant Revenue - Federal 1,080$              Higher than anticipated 277-000.000-502.000
Interest 1,800                 Higher than anticipated 277-000.000-665.000

Total Revenues 2,880$              

Expenditures
OT - OHSP Traffic Grant 425$                  Higher than anticipated 277-300.301-706.310
FICA 50                      Higher than anticipated 277-300.301-714.000



Total Expenditures 475$                  

Net to Fund Balance 2,405$              

Opioid Settlement Fund

Revenues
Interest 1,150$              Higher than anticipated 284-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 1,150$              

American Rescue Plan Act Fund

Expenditures
Software (30,000)$           EPlanSoft project will not occur until early 2025 285-900.901-978.000

Net to Fund Balance 30,000$            

CATA Millage Fund

Revenues
Delinquent Property Taxes 115$                  Higher than anticipated 288-000.000-412.000
Local Community Stabilization Share 1,010                 Higher than anticipated 288-000.000-573.000
Interest 4,900                 Higher interest rates 288-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 6,025$              

Debt Service Funds

Roads Debt Retirement Fund

Revenues
Delinquent Property Taxes 110$                  Higher than anticipated 310-000.000-412.000
Interest 24,750              Higher interest rates 310-000.000-665.000



Net to Fund Balance 24,860$            

Fire Station Debt Service Fund

Revenues
Interest 425$                  Higher interest rates 372-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 425$                  

Capital Project Funds

Capital Project Fund

Revenues
Interest 11,820$            Higher interest rates 401-000.000-665.000

Net to Fund Balance 11,820$            

Township Improvement Revolving Fund

Revenues
Penalties 195$                  Higher than anticipated 446-000.000-474.000
Interest 14,200              Higher interest rates 446-000.000-665.000
Miscellaneous 2,800                 Higher than anticipated 446-000.000-675.000
Special Assessments (425,000)           Budgeted higher than actual 446-000.000-677.000

Total Revenues (407,805)$        

Expenditures
Construction/Improvements (40,000)$           Lower than anticipated 446-000.000-974.000

Net From Fund Balance (367,805)$        

Enterprise Funds



Sewer Fund

Revenues
Billing Charges-Sewer (43,500)$           Lower than anticipated 590-000.000-630.110
Lift Station Fees 1,400                 Higher than anticipated 590-000.000-631.010
Water and Sewer Penalties 10,500              Higher than anticipated 590-000.000-632.000
Sewer Inspections 5,425                 Higher than anticipated 590-000.000-635.000
Sewer Licenses 75                      Higher than anticipated 590-000.000-636.000
Connection Fees 194,000            New housing developments 590-000.000-644.000
Interest 15,250              Higher interest rates 590-000.000-665.000
Miscellaneous 680                    Higher than anticipated 590-000.000-675.000
Reimbursements 200,000            Higher than anticipated 590-000.000-676.000

Total Revenues 383,830$         

Expenses
Water/Sewer Administration - Overtime 150$                  Higher than anticipated 590-440.441-706.000
Water/Sewer Administration - Health Insurance 2,200                 Higher than anticipated 590-440.441-715.000
Water/Sewer Administration - Insurance Opt Out (2,250)               No employees opted out of health insurance for 2024 590-440.441-715.010

Engineering - Salaries 43,000              Higher than anticipated 590-440.447-701.000
Engineering - FICA 2,800                 Higher than anticipated 590-440.447-714.000
Engineering - Health Insurance 1,700                 Higher than anticipated 590-440.447-715.000

Sewage Treatment - Contractual Services (400,000)           Lower than anticipated 590-440.527-820.000

Sewer Maintenance - Longevity 80                      Budget error 590-440.538-710.000
Sewer Maintenance - Health Insurance 1,600                 Higher than anticipated 590-440.538-715.000
Sewer Maintenance - Lift Station Repairs (100,000)           Lower than anticipated 590-440.538-931.000
Sewer Maintenance - Sewer Line Repairs (41,000)             Lower than anticipated 590-440.538-932.000

Debt Service - Debt Service-Interest 455,990            Additional drawdowns on SRF bonds 590-905.906-993.000

Total Expenses (35,730)$          

Net to Fund Balance 419,560$         



Water Fund

Revenues
Billing Charges (36,000)$           Budget error 591-000.000-630.100
Water and Sewer Penalties 12,000              Higher than anticipated 591-000.000-632.000
Customer Installation 46,800              Higher than anticipated 591-000.000-633.000
Water Inspection 2,000                 Higher than anticipated 591-000.000-635.100
Connection Fees 120,000            New housing developments 591-000.000-644.000
Interest 6,800                 Higher interest rates 591-000.000-665.000
Miscellaneous 16,100              Higher than anticipated 591-000.000-675.000
Reimbursements 27,400              Higher than anticipated 591-000.000-676.000

Total Revenues 195,100$         

Expenses
Water/Sewer Administration - Overtime 150$                  Higher than anticipated 591-440.441-706.000
Water/Sewer Administration - Health Insurance 2,200                 Higher than anticipated 591-440.441-715.000
Water/Sewer Administration - Insurance Opt Out (2,250)               No employees opted out of insurance during 2024 591-440.441-715.010

Engineering - Health Insurance 1,700                 Higher than anticipated 591-440.447-715.000

Water Maintenance - Health Insurance 1,000                 Higher than anticipated 591-440.537-715.000
Water Maintenance - Operating Supplies (40,000)             Lower than anticipated 591-440.537-728.000
Water Maintenance - Customer Installation-Water (230,000)           Lower than anticipated 591-440.537-972.000
Water Maintenance - Machinery and Equipment (15,000)             Lower than anticipated 591-440.537-979.000

Total Expenses (282,200)$        

Net to Fund Balance 477,300$         

Internal Service Fund

Motor Pool Fund



Revenues
Interest 7,600$              Higher interest rates 661-000.000-665.000
Vehicle Sales 30,000              Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-673.000
Insurance Recoveries 2,500                 Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-698.000

Total Revenues 40,100$            

Expenses
Salaries 4,100$              Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-701.000
Longevity 80                      Budget error 661-000.000-710.000
Health Insurance 1,000                 Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-715.000
Health Care Savings Plan 100                    Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-717.500
Vehicle Repair Parts 46,000              Water tank replacement on Unit 30 ($37k) 661-000.000-728.101
Vehicle Accessories 4,800                 Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-728.102
Vehicle Supplies - Outside Services 5,500                 Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-728.103
Batteries/Electrical 1,700                 Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-728.105
Insurance 500                    Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-812.000
Contractual Services 9,000                 Higher than anticipated 661-000.000-820.000
Gasoline (30,000)             Lower than anticipated 661-000.000-865.000

Total Expenses 42,780$            

Net from Fund Balance (2,680)$             



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

13. A 

To:  Board Members 

From: Tavis Millerov, Fire Marshal 
Michael Hamel, Fire Chief 

Date:  December 10, 2024 

Re:  2024 International Fire Code with Township Amendments 

 
The 2024 International Fire Code is the most recent edition of the fire code as published by the 
International Code Council. It is a companion code to the International Building Code, from which 
the Michigan Building Code is derived and enacted by state statute. In an effort to remain current 
with rapidly changing technologies and best practices concerning energy storage systems, lithium-
ion batteries, and hazardous chemicals, we are requesting the Township Board formally adopt the 
2024 International Fire Code by ordinance. 

 
Attachments: Ordinance No. 2024-08 and Resolution for Updating the Charter Township of 
Meridian Fire Code 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-08 
ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODE OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, 

MICHIGAN, CHAPTER 26, ARTICLE II, SECTIONS 26-26 AND 26-27  
 TO ADOPT AND INCORPORATE BY REFERENCE THE 2024 INTERNATIONAL FIRE 

CODE WITH MERIDIAN AMENDMENTS 
 
 
THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 
 

Section 1. Amendment to Chapter 26, Article II, Sections 26-26 and 26-27. Section 26-
26 entitled Adoption and Section 26-27 entitled Revisions; limitations; amendments of the 
Code of the Charter Township of Meridian, Michigan, are amended to read as follows: 
 
26-26 Adoption. 
 

That a certain document, a copy of which is on file in the office of the Township Clerk, 
being marked and designated as the International Fire Code, 2024 edition, including 
Appendix Chapters B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, K, N, and O (International Fire Code Section 
101.2.1, 2024 edition), as published by the International Code Council, is hereby 
adopted, and incorporated by reference into the Township Code of Ordinances, with 
Meridian Amendments, as the Fire Code of the Charter Township of Meridian, in the 
State of Michigan, to regulate and govern the safeguarding of life and property from 
fire and explosion hazards arising from the storage, handling and use of hazardous 
substances, materials and devices, and from conditions hazardous to life or property 
in the occupancy of buildings and premises in the Township and to provide for the 
issuance of permits and collection of fees. Such adoption and incorporation shall 
include all amendments to the 2018 International Fire Code effective as of the date 
this ordinance is adopted, and including all amendments thereafter made to the 2018 
International Fire Code. Amendments made to the 2018 International Fire Code, as 
adopted by reference herein, become effective the same date they become effective 
in the 2018 International Fire Code. The penalties and procedures prescribed 
pursuant to the 2018 International Fire Code are applicable to violations occurring in 
the Township. 
 

26-27 Revisions; limitations; amendments. 
 

(a) The following sections of the 2024 International Fire Code, as amended, are 
hereby revised as follows: 

 
Section 101.1: Title. These regulations shall be known as the Fire Code of THE 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, hereinafter referred to after as “this code.” 
 
Section 113.4: Violation Penalties. Persons who shall violate provisions of this code 
or shall fail to comply with any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, 
alter, repair or do work in violation of the approved construction documents or 
directive of the fire code official, or of a permit or certificate used under provisions of 
this code, shall be guilty of a MISDEMEANOR, punishable by a fine of not more than 
$500.00 dollars or by imprisonment not exceeding NINETY (90) DAYS, or both such 
fine and imprisonment. Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been 
served shall be deemed as a separate offense. 



Section 507.5.1: Where Required. Where a portion of the facility or building 
hereinafter constructed or moved into or within the jurisdiction is more than 400 150 
feet (46 m) from a hydrant on a fire apparatus access road, as measured by an 
approved route around the exterior of the facility or building, on-site fire hydrants 
and mains shall be provided where required by the fire code official. 

 
Exceptions: 
1. For Group R-3 and Group U occupancies, the distance requirement shall 

be 600 250 feet (76 m). 
2. For buildings equipped throughout with an approved automatic sprinkler 

system installed in accordance with Section 903.1.1 or 903.3.1.2, the 
distance requirement shall be 600 250 feet (76 m). 

 
Section 507.5.1.1: Hydrant for standpipe FIRE PROTECTION systems. Buildings 
equipped with a standpipe FIRE PROTECTION system installed in accordance with 
Section 905 CHAPTER 9 shall have a fire hydrant within 100 feet (30 m) of the fire 
department connections. 

 
Section 1103.5.3 Group I-2 Condition 2: In addition to the requirements of Section 
1103.5.2, existing buildings of Group I-2, Condition 2 occupancy shall be equipped 
throughout with an approved automatic sprinkler system in accordance with Section 
903.3.1.1. The automatic sprinkler system shall be installed as established by the 
adopting ordinance limits set forth by the Michigan Bureau of Fire Services rules 
for each respective facility. 

 
 Section 2. Validity and Severability. The provisions of this Ordinance are severable 

and the invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the 
validity or effectiveness of the remainder of the Ordinance. 

 
 Section 3. Repealer Clause. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 
are hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 
  
 Section 4. Savings Clause. This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, 
penalties that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 
 
 Section 5. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after its 
publication. 
 
 
 
__________________________________ __________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson  Angela Demas 
Township Supervisor   Township Clerk 
 
 
__________________________________ 
William K. Fahey 
Township Attorney 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-08 
CHAPTER 26 

           TOWNSHIP BOARD 
      SECTIONS 26-26 & 26-27 

INTRODUCTION 
 

RESOLUTION FOR UPDATING THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 
MERIDIAN FIRE CODE 

 
 At a meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, 
Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal building in said township on the 17th day of December, 
2024 at 6:00 p.m. local time. 
 
 PRESENT:         
 
           
 ABSENT: 
           
 
           
 
 The following resolution was offered by ___________________________________ and supported by  
 

___________________________. 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 23 of the Charter Township Act, being MCL 42.23, the Charter 
Township of Meridian may adopt any provision of state law or detailed technical regulations as a 
township ordinance; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has previously adopted a Uniform Fire Code being Article II 
of Chapter 26 of the Township’s Code of Ordinances; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Township Uniform Fire Code Article II of Chapter 26 incorporates by 

reference the 2018 International Fire Code, as published by the International Conference of Building 
Officials; and  
 

WHEREAS, the International Conference of Building Officials updated the International Fire 
Code and has now adopted and published the 2024 International Fire Code; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Township Board has reviewed the proposed ordinance at its December 17th  

meeting, and deems it in the best interest of the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizenry of 
the Charter Township of Meridian to incorporate by reference the International Fire Code, 2024 
edition, with amendments. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, that the Township Board hereby 
INTRODUCES FOR PUBLICATION AND SUBSEQUENT ADOPTION Ordinance No. 2024-08, titled 
“Ordinance Amending the Code of the Charter Township of Meridian, Chapter 26, Article II, Sections 



26-26 and 26-27, to Adopt and Incorporate by Reference the 2024 International Fire Code with 
Meridian Amendments.” 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the Charter Township of Meridian is directed 

to publish the Ordinance once prior to the next regular meeting of the Township Board. 
 
 
 
 
ADOPTED:  YEAS:          
 
             
 
   NAYS:          
 
             
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    )ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk for the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution 
adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board held on the 17th day of December, 2024. 
 
             
     Angela Demas, Clerk 
     Charter Township of Meridian  
 



13. B

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

TO: Township Board 

FROM: Neighborhood & Economic Development Director Amber Clark 

DATE: December 17, 2024 

RE: “I Heart Mac and Cheese- East Lansing - 4790 S Hagadorn Road Suite #158 
Request for Class C Liquor License  

Applications for Class C On-Premise liquor licenses require approval from local government 
authorities prior to MLCC initiating an investigation to grant an operator a liquor license. A 
Class C On-Premise license is a highly sought-after license, and Meridian Township is the only 
local unit of government to have multiple available in Ingham County. These licenses are 
expensive to acquire from individual owners with prices starting at $60,000 plus the $20,000 
required permit fee to the State of Michigan. The issuance of a Class C On-Premise license will 
affect the total licenses available to be issued by the Township. It is within the Township’s 
authority to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a request that does not meet the 
intent of the Liquor License Ordinance. The recently adopted ordinance views the issuance of 
a liquor license as an asset and should be viewed as a business development incentive. 
Incentives in Meridian Township are typically used to ensure redevelopment of the Potential 
Intensity Change Areas of Okemos/Hamilton Road, Haslett/Marsh Road, Meridian Mall, and 
Hagadorn/Lake Lansing areas.  MLCC will initiate an investigation for a Class C On-Premise 
request after an approved resolution from the Local Governmental Unit is adopted. 

The attached application is a request from Paul Hamby of I Heart Mac and Cheese East 
Lansing, for the Township to issue from the approved quota a CLASS C ON-PREMISE liquor 
license. A CLASS C ON-PREMISE allows the license holder to sell packaged liquor, distilled 
spirits, and mixed spirit drinks, consumption must be On-premise at a tavern, hotel, bar, or 
restaurant. The Township is under no obligation to issue a quota license. These licenses 
are an asset of the Township and can be issued to whomever the Township Board agrees 
meets the intent of the Liquor License Ordinance. The issuance of a quota license grants 
the license holder the full ability and rights of the license. The license holder has the full 
right to move the license to any other community in Ingham County, after three years. The 
license can go into escrow after 1 year and can be held in escrow for up to 5 years (or 
more). The license holder is then allowed to sell the license to anyone interested in having 
a liquor license in Ingham County. This would remove a quota license from the Township 
and grant a new establishment of business in a different community. MLCC designates the 
amount of quota licenses based on population at each census. The Township can lose a 
number of licenses due to a decline in population or gain 4 licenses with the addition of 
6,000 new persons by the 2030 census.  



Township Board 
Page 2 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community, 

The application was submitted with the full application fee, on October 22, 2024. 

Current ON-PREMISE Allowed in the Township 29 
Current ISSUED ON-PREMISE licenses in the Township 26 
Currently Available to ISSUE 2 
The currently available status shown on MLCC’s website is not an accurate reflection of 
the CLASS C ON-PREMISE licenses that are available to issue. A request to change license 
designations and issue a CLASS C ON-PREMISE for Clarion Pointe 2736 E Grand River was 
approved by this Board in November of 2023. Another request for a CLASS C ON-PREMISE 
license for M.A.C Legends at Meridian Mall was also approved. MLCC’s website has not 
been updated to show the correct available CLASS C ON-PREMISE licenses to issue. 
Countywide, CLASS C ON-PREMISE is in short supply with East Lansing the only other 
major community in the County with one to issue.  

Paul Hamby of I Heart Mac and Cheese East Lansing requests the Township issue a quota 
CLASS C ON-PREMISE license to sell Liquor, Mixed Drinks, Beer, and Wine with Sunday AM 
and PM permits to allow for the sale of alcohol on Sunday. The location of this new 
establishment will be 4790 S. Hagadorn Road, Suite 158, East Lansing, MI 48823. The 
applicant states restaurant hours will be Sunday – Wednesday 11 a.m. to 11 p.m. Thursday 
– Saturday from 11 a.m. to 1 a.m.

Application states, I Heart Mac and Cheese will offer a unique dining experience that 
stands out from the other establishments in Meridian Township because, unlike 
traditional restaurants, we specialize in customizable mac and cheese dishes, allowing 
customers to create their perfect meal with a variety of cheeses, proteins, and 
toppings.  Our fast-casual dining environment combines comfort food with a modern twist, 
featuring a vibrant and welcoming atmosphere. Additionally, we offer a selection of craft 
beers and unique cocktails that pair perfectly with our mac and cheese creations.  

Full-time Employees: 8 
Part-time Employees: 20 

 Hagadorn/Hannah Plaza is the location of this establishment.  This high-trafficked 
commercial core area has seen continued turnover in commercial spaces particularly 
small fast-casual dining options.  The I Heart Mac and Cheese location is in close proximity 
to business establishments similar to it with similar quota licenses. The MAC, Sansu Sushi, 
Hannah Lofts, Residence Inn, Pizza House, and Sindu Restaurant. All are within a .5 mile of 
this site and offer this type of business experience. Many restaurants are moving to fast 
casual dining, instead of a full dining service restaurant. This too is present in the 
Hannah/Hagadorn complex.  The application states that the business will focus on a 
prioritization of local support and local business association membership.  



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community, 

Township Board 
Page 3 

The applicants have submitted a full application, application fee, site plans, floor plans, 
and a general description of the business. This is the applicant’s first venture in the 
restaurant industry in the Greater Lansing region. The site is appropriately zoned 
Commercial C-2, Fire and Community Planning have no issue with the request. The Police 
department is aware of the requested license, the location of the establishment, and has 
been provided with an iChat record for the owners. The police department has no issue 
with the request. The application was reviewed based on the current ordinance 
requirements, and a simple criteria addressed sheet is included with this memo. The 
numerical value is not indicative of approval or denial. Merely a value representing the 
total number of indicated bullet points from the listed criteria of the ordinance. This 
number is to assist Township staff and Board members with the ability to ascertain how 
well the applicant and their request meets the overall intent of the Liquor License 
ordinance and recent updates. Tonight the Board can discuss the overall application and 
based on the general direction of the Board, at the following meeting, staff will have a 
resolution prepared.  

Motion: No motion is provided at this time. Township Board discussion will cue to 
Township staff on how to write the resolution for a future meeting of the Township 
Board. The item will then be under “Action” written in the form of an approval, 
approval with conditions, or denial of the request, based on the comments received 
from the Board during this meeting.  

Attachments: 
1. Ordinance Criteria Addressed
2. I Heart Mac and Cheese East Lansing, LLC Liquor License Application & Comments from Depts.





















































13. C

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

RE: 

Township Board 

Neighborhood & Economic Development Director Amber Clark 

December 17, 2024 

Meridian Township Youth Commission Establishment   

At the August 20, 2024, Township Board meeting, Suchir Nagisetty proposed to the Township Board 
the idea of a Youth Commission to engage the youth of Meridian Township to provide better access, 
inclusivity, and perspectives of the second largest population of our community. In several forms, 
Meridian residents aged 55+ have access to the Township Board through commissions, programming, 
and assistance. Few Township commissions focus specifically on the youth population of the 
Township. The Township Board expressed interest in the pursuit of establishing a Youth Commission 
in Meridian Township. 

At the direction of the Board, staff researched local Youth Commissions that are currently functioning 
in East Lansing and the City of Jackson. In both instances, the local unit of government adopted a 
resolution and established an ordinance to create a Youth Commission/Council in their communities. 
The established Youth Commissions settled on member quorums 9-12, and in both cases, their youth 
committees are not at full capacity. It is the recommendation of staff to establish the Meridian 
Township Youth Commission with 7 members, youth aged 14-19 that live in the boundaries of the 
Township or attend a school in the boundaries of the Township.  

Meridian Township is home to two (2) national exemplary schools that rank highly in college course 
preparation. Students at both Haslett and Okemos public schools will participate in SAT prep and 
SATs; both to align their potential entry to a major university. Commonly, students of Haslett and 
Okemos are encouraged to participate in co-curricular and extracurricular activities that support 
their entry to college or other post-K-12 institutions to assist them in entering the workforce. This is a 
highly stressful, time-consuming period of their lives.  Noting the lack of a full quorum in both East 
Lansing and Jackson, it is apparent that there are difficulties in engaging the youth to join the 
Commission -- specifically related to time consumption, considering the various organizations and 
activities of a school-aged person 14-19.  Included in the resolution for adoption is the option for the 
Township Board to provide monetary compensation, should they desire to incentivize 
participation.  Evening activities through sports, clubs/organizations, employment, and family are all 
competing for our youth’s attention. These competing factors may keep youth from joining the 
Meridian Township Youth Commission. A secondary recommendation is to work with the 
superintendents of the schools to see if participation in the Youth Commission may count toward 
course credit. Youth may find this an appealing option to progress on their personal goals while 
fulfilling the Township’s goals through the Youth Commission.  

Other Considerations: 

- For the Youth that are not of driving age, what steps can the Board take to ensure
transportation can be provided? Will the ability to have individual transportation be a deciding factor
in participation?



Township Board 
Memo To Establish Youth Commission 
Page 2 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

- Are there local Youth Committees/Civic programs in existence that we can collaborate with?
YMCA has a local youth civics program?

- Key Club/Kiwanis/Club organizations that require a number of volunteer hours may be
interested in collaborating with the Township.

- Will the Board require parent consent? Same PSA Application as the other
Boards/Commissions?

- What Department, Departments, will this commission report to or be staffed by?

- What steps will the current Youth Commission members take to mentor younger students to
maintain a fresh collection of interested bodies for the committee?

Today, this item is presented to the Board as a discussion regarding the Youth Commission, its 
establishment, and other parameters they would like to see regarding the creation of the Commission. 
The Board may wish to discuss engagement, strategy for participation, and coordination with 
educating partners. Final adoption will include establishing a new ordinance.  

MOTION: There is no particular motion at this time. Staff presents this information to the Board to 
derive a better understanding of their expectation of a Youth Commission. At a future meeting, staff 
will bring back to the Board a formal recommendation for establishment.  

Attachments: 

1. Resolution to Establish Youth Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian

2. Ordinance to Establish Youth Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian



Resolution to Approve Youth Commission of Meridian Charter Township 

RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH YOUTH COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, 
Michigan, held at the Township Hall Room located at 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Michigan on the ____ 
day of January, 2025 at 6:00 pm local time.  

PRESENT: 

ABSENT: 

 The following resolution was offered by ______________ and supported by _____________. 

WHEREAS, the Charter Township of Meridian is a Prime community of approximately 43,000 residents 
comprised of two unincorporated villages named “Haslett” and “Okemos”, each of which provides 
exemplary education to the student populations that reside within the school district boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Meridian Charter Township Board has the desire to enhance opportunities for 
engagement, synergy, and collaboration with the student populations that represent our community; 
and  

WHEREAS, a Meridian Township student, Suchir Nagisetty addressed the Township Board on August 20, 
2024, and bravely presented that the community’s youth don’t have an avenue to express their desires, 
interests, and concerns with the Township Board, specifically regarding issues that directly impact their 
lives and futures. Suchir Nagisetty detailed that a Youth Commission could create an open and safe 
platform for youth ages 14-19 to engage directly with the Township Board and eliminate the large gap in 
communication between these age groups with the Township Board; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board after the presentation by Suchir Nagisetty discussed the establishment 
of a Youth Commission in Meridian Township. The Township Board directed the Township Manager to 
investigate the parameters of forming a Youth Commission in the Township, and to bring forward the 
required elements to establish one in Meridian Charter Township; and 

WHEREAS, Staff have researched youth commissions across the state and the Township Board may 
establish a youth commission through resolution and adoption of a Township ordinance as all other 
Township Boards have been enacted; and 

WHEREAS, the Meridian Charter Township Board desires to establish a Youth Commission to make 
advisory recommendations to the Township Board and the various Township departments concerning 
the needs and experiences of the youth population of Meridian Charter Township. The Youth 
Commission will encourage diversity, adaptability, progression, and collaboration with the younger 
population of the community, and provide a direct pathway of communication of the youth of the 
community to the Township Board; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 
MERIDIAN that the Township Board hereby introduces for publication and subsequent adoption 

Township Board 
Resolution Youth Commission
Page 3



Resolution to Approve Youth Commission of Meridian Charter Township 

Ordinance No. ________ entitled Ordinance to Establish Youth Commission of Meridian Charter 
Township. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the Township of Meridian is directed to publish the 
Ordinance in the form in which it is introduced at least once prior to the next regular meeting of the 
Township Board. 

ADOPTED: YEAS:  ______________________________________________________________ 

       ______________________________________________________________ 

       ______________________________________________________________ 

NAYS: _______________________________________________________________ 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
) SS 

COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the forgoing is a true and complete copy of a 
resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the _______ day of ________, 2025. 

______________________________________ 

Angela Demas 
Meridian Township Clerk 

Township Board 
Resolution Youth Commission
Page 4



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
YOUTH COMMISSION  

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

At a meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, 
Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building on ________________, 2025, at 6:00 p.m., 
Township Board Member ____________ moved to introduce for first reading and subsequent 
adoption the following Ordinance, which motion was seconded by Board Member 
_____________: 

An Ordinance to amend Chapter II, Article VI of the Charter Township of Meridian, Code of 
Ordinances to establish a Youth Commission in the Charter Township of Meridian, County of 

Ingham, Michigan. 

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN ORDAINS: 

SECTION 1.    AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE VI, TO ADD A DIVISION TO 
ARTICLE VI. Chapter 2, Article VI, Boards, and Commissions, to establish the Youth 
Commission of Meridian Charter Township. 

SECTION 2.    YOUTH COMMISSION INTENT AND PURPOSE 
The purpose of the Youth Commission is to engage the youth of Meridian Charter Township by 
actively involving them in the functions of municipal governance. The youth council will 
encourage diversity and adaptability of government through younger perspectives and help 
formulate plans for long-term community success.  

SECTION 3. YOUTH COMMISSION CREATION  
There hereby, is created and established a Youth Commission of Meridian Charter Township. 

SECTION 4. YOUTH COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP, APPOINTMENT, QUALIFICATION, 
TERM OF OFFICE 

1. The Youth Commission shall consist of no less than 7 members.
2. The term of office for each member of the Youth Commission shall be one year from

appointment by the Meridian Township Board, through the recommendation of the
Township Supervisor.

3. Members of the Youth Commission must be aged 14-19, a resident of the Charter
Township of Meridian, and/or attend a local school within the boundaries of the
Township.

SECTION 5.  VACANCIES 
When a vacancy occurs due to removal, resignation, or other cause, such vacancy shall be filled 
for the unexpired terms by an appointment by the Meridian Township Board, with the 
recommendation of the Township Supervisor.  

SECTION 6. ABSENCES/ATTENDANCE 

Township Board 
Ordinance Youth Commission
Page 5



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
YOUTH COMMISSION  

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

The membership of any voting member of the Youth Commission shall be terminated if that 
person is absent without notification to the commission chair for four regular meetings of the 
Youth Commission during their year term of office.  

SECTION 7.  SELECTION OF OFFICERS 
At the first meeting after the Youth Commission is appointed, and annually thereafter at its first 
meeting of each calendar year, the Commission shall organize by selecting one member to be the 
Chair, one member to be the Vice-Chair and a secretary, who need not be a member of the Youth 
Commission shall be selected. A vacancy in any such office may be filled at any time during 
such year by action of the remaining members of the Youth Commission. 

SECTION 8. COMPENSATION 
Members of the Youth Commission may be compensated at a rate to be determined by the 
Township Board. Such rate of compensation, if any, shall be established and may be revised 
from time to time by resolution of the Township Board.  

SECTION 9. RULES, PROCEDURES, QUORUM, SUBJECT TO OPEN MEETINGS ACT 

1. The Youth Commission shall adopt rules of procedures with respect to its meetings and
shall keep a record of its proceedings.

2. Five voting members of the Youth Commission shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business.

3. The Youth Commission shall be subject to the Open Meetings Act, and Township staff
shall assist in the proper posting of all public meetings.

SECTION 10. MEETINGS 
Meetings of the Youth Commission shall be held at least once a month. 

SECTION 11. ADVISORY BOARD TO MERIDIAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
The Youth Commission shall act as an advisory Board to the Meridian Charter Township Board 
and shall either upon its own initiative or upon the specific request of the Township Board or 
Township Staff, conduct research and make recommendations directly to the Township Board in 
an advisory capacity as to those matters pertaining to the activities or needs of the youth of 
Meridian Township.  

SECTION 12. POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE YOUTH COMMISSION 
The Youth Commission may make recommendations to the Township Board or Township staff 
concerning the needs and desires of the youth population, the appropriate means by which public 
and private agencies collaborate to address those needs, and possible solutions to address those 
needs. All programs, and activities of the Youth Commission shall be sent to the Township 
Board, and Township Human Resources department for review. Any advisory action of the 
Youth Commission shall be presented formally to the Township Board by either way of 
communication or presentation. The duties of the Youth Commission shall include, but are not 
limited to: 

Township Board 
Ordinance Youth Commission
Page 6



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
YOUTH COMMISSION  

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

1. Serve as a communication conduit between the Township Board and the Township’s
Youth population;

2. Encourage greater education of local governance, civics, and municipal operations;
3. Develop programming to combat specific gaps in coordination between the Township’s

local government and the youth population;
4. Develop programs to reduce youth violence, increase youth mental health, combat

discrimination, and encourage compassionate cooperation;
5. Raise funds for programs that support the overall health and betterment of Meridian

Township youth aged 14-19;
Address other issues affecting the youth of Meridian Charter Township while collaborating with 
community partners. 

Township Board 
Ordinance Youth Commission
Page 7



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

13. D

To:   Board Members 

From:          Supervisor Scott Hendrickson 

Date:   December 17, 2024 

Re:  Appointment of Supervisor Pro Tem 

Over the past several years, the Board has recommended naming a Supervisor Pro Tem in advance 

to simplify the process of chairing the Board Meetings in case one is needed. The original proposal 

was to make one year appointments and rotate it through the Trustees. 

It is time to appoint someone to act as Supervisor Pro Tem in for 2025. 

MOTION: I move that the Board appoint, through December 31, 2025, Trustee Marna Wilson 

to act as Supervisor Pro Tem at any meeting of the Township Board wherein the Supervisor 

is absent and may act with the statutory authority of Township Supervisor, when 

specifically delegated that authority by the Supervisor in writing. 



 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

13.E 

To:  Township Board Members 
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 

Interim Township Manager &  
Director of Community Planning and Development 

 
Date:  December 12, 2024 
 
Re: 2025 Township Goals 
 
The Township Board has annually set goals for the upcoming year, covering a variety of topics. At 
the November 23rd Special Board Meeting, the 2024 Top 5 Goals were discussed, along with 
potential changes/additions/updates for 2025. In reviewing the discussion from the special 
meeting, six topics were mentioned the most: Roads, Public Safety, Environment, Economic 
Development, DEI/multiculturalism, and the Senior Community Center.  
 
Staff has developed the following big picture goals for 2025 and would welcome discussion on them. 
Additionally, a summary of the discussion from the Special Meeting on the 23rd follows.  
 

2025 Goals 
 

Engage our multicultural community while telling our story better as a forward-thinking 
organization. 

 
Provide exemplary service to the community while actively soliciting collaboration from 

citizens, volunteer boards, commissions, authorities, and regional partners to 
strengthening the connection between the staff, Board, community, and region. 

 
Continue to lead the way in implementation of environmentally friendly and sustainable 

policies and infrastructure for public and private projects throughout the Township. 
 

With a focus on the Master Plan’s identified Redevelopment Areas (PICAs), enhance our 
standing as a prime location to develop, own, and operate a business. 

 
Following the Senior/Community Center Task Force’s recommendation in Spring 2025, 

continue to move towards construction of a new facility, starting in late 2025 or early 2026. 
 

Invest and plan for sustainable, continued replacement of all aging infrastructure in the 
community. 

 
To reiterate the conversation from the Special Meeting, after these goals are established, Staff will 
work towards outlining our work in 2025 and how that work will come in under these goals. 
Additionally, establishing these big picture goals now will allow us to revisit them before the budget 
kick off process, tying the budgeting and goal setting more directly together, which should lead to 
more positive outcomes in the future. Staff looks forward to discussing this with the Board and 
finalizing them at the first meeting in January. 



 
2025 Township Goals 
Page 2 

 

  
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

 

 
2024 Goal 

Enhance Public Safety 
In an effort to bolster our neighborhood patrols and traffic enforcement, our police department 
will be diligent in their efforts to increase our current number of police officers from 31 to 42. 

With the increased number of service calls to the fire department, we will increase our budgeted 
staffing level from 34 to 36 full-time paramedic/firefighters. In addition, we will secure plans and 
funding to build new dorms at the Central Fire Station. The new dormitory will provide for gender 

equity as we increase the number of female paramedics. 
 
Board Retreat Discussion 

 Better evaluation of public service needs/ is the balance between fire/EMS/police right? 
 Keep goals about public safety more esoteric rather than so specific  
 Keep public safety goal-#1 item for the public 
 Change public safety focus from numbers to studying long term needs 
 Public safety value-based goals 
 Tell our story better-Roads, Public Safety, Environment, Economic Development, DEI, 

multiculturalism, SCC-Further understand our community 
 

2024 Goal 
Community/Senior Center 

In 2024, Meridian Township shall work in collaboration with professional and community 
resources, to determine the feasibility of a new multi-generational Community/Senior Center. The 
community’s work shall focus on funding, location, timeline, citizen feedback and amenities. The 

Township will also seek additional funding from the state and federal community grant programs. 
 
Board Retreat Discussion 

 Keep Senior Center goal 
 Senior Community Center (SCC) reword goal 
 Big Three: Downtown-roads-SCC 

 
2024 Goal 

Citizen Outreach and Enhanced Citizen Communication  
The Meridian Township Board believes there is nothing more important than effective and timely 
communication with our residents. In 2024, the Township Board and staff will focus on continuing 
our township-wide Listening Sessions, create the 2024 Citizen Survey & Prime Meridian Magazine, 

produce monthly Good Morning Meridian newscasts and semi-monthly updates from our 
communications team. 

 
Board Retreat Discussion 

 How do we engage HOAs better?   
 Timing of listening sessions 
 Coffee hours? 
 Remove Communications goal (baked in) (We know how to do it) 



 
2025 Township Goals 
Page 3 

 

  
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

 Communications is still important, it is not just listening sessions 
 Integrate DEI into Communications? 
 Tell our story better-Roads, Public Safety, Environment, Economic Development, DEI, 

multiculturalism, SCC-Further understand our community 
 Improve engagement of existing Communication tools 
 How can we continue to improve communication with the public? 

 

2024 Goal 
Diversity, Equity and Inclusion  

In 2024, expand our DEI training and update our Personnel Handbook and Job Descriptions. We 
will also focus on events that celebrate the rich diversity of our community. 

 
Board Retreat Discussion 

 Center DEI goal around community rather than staff 
 Bake DEI into our fabric-Tell our story better 
 Celebrate multiculturalism in Meridian Township-externally focused 
 Integrate DEI into Communications? 
 Tell our story better 
 Accessibility/access as part of DEI 
 Idea (adding access) instead of DEI 

 

2024 Goal 
Environmental, Infrastructure and Recreational Sustainability  

In 2024, Meridian Township will continue their emphasis on the environment, infrastructure and 
recreational open spaces. The Township will complete a fifth solar array, seek funding for a second 
recycling center, enhance wetland protection, complete Phase II of the MSU to Lake Lansing Trail, 
determine the future use of the Central Park Pavilion and implement Phase I of the water meter 

replacement program. 
 
Board Retreat Discussion 

 Split fifth goal up 
 Big Three: Downtown-roads-SCC 
 Flesh out environmental sustainability goal 
 Tell our story better-Roads, Public Safety, Environment, Economic Development, DEI, 

multiculturalism, SCC-Further understand our community 
 Fleet electrification 
 Include all infrastructure, not just roads 

 

Other 2024 Board Retreat Discussion Topics 
 

 Improve knowledge and abilities of staff 
 Health and wellness initiatives for staff/community 
 Economic Development goal 
 Downtown Okemos needs some focus 
 Investment in small businesses 



 
2025 Township Goals 
Page 4 

 

  
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 

 Add Downtown goal –What tools/incentives do we need? 
 Big Three: Downtown-roads-SCC 
 Downtown development goal-PICA goal-Economic Development (broad brush) 
 Tell our story better-Roads, Public Safety, Environment, Economic Development, DEI, 

multiculturalism, SCC-Further understand our community 
 Implicit bias training 

  
 


	Agenda
	9.A-Communications
	9B-Minutes
	9C-Bills
	9D-Construction Contract with MDOT
	9E-Disposal of Surplus Vehicles
	9F-Planning Commission Appointment
	9G-Board of Review Appointment
	9H-2025 Non-Union Wage Schedule
	12A-Township Manager Interviews
	12B-Village of Nemoka Text Amendment
	12C-4th Quarter Budget Amendments
	13A-Fire Code Update
	13B-I Heart Mac and Cheese Class C Liquor License
	13C-Youth Commission Establishment
	13D-Supervisor Pro Tem
	13E-2025 Township Goals



